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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE "STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has bheen positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such
companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on the GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is
a risk that securities traded on the GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in
the securities traded on the GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of the Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited (the
“company’) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose
of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to
the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement
F EdRE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the "Board”) of Goal Rise
Logistics (China) Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to
present the first annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2017.

On 18 October 2017, the shares of the Company were successfully
listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing"). As the Chairman of the Board, | hope that this annual
report will increase shareholders’ understanding of the Group’s
business operation and development.

REVIEW

Benefiting from China’s economic growth and recovery of global
trade, national income level increased and domestic consumption
demand continued to grow, which created a positive trend in the
overall logistics industry. With supply-side structural reform being the
main task in 2017, China promoted structural optimization,
rebalanced its economic growth model and improved quality,
resulting in a steady and healthy development of the national
economy. The increase in consumption helped boost economic
growth, leading to positive development of the overall logistics
sector. The total revenue of China’s logistics industry for 2017 was
RMB8.8 trillion, representing an increase of 11.5% from that of 2016;
the aforesaid growth rate rose by 6.9 percentage points year-on-
year.

During the year under review, the Group's total revenue surged by
24.7%, mainly attributable to the increase in the revenue of the
Group's transportation and warehousing business segments driven
by the increased demand for logistics services from the Group’s
customers, whose sales surged on the robust development of the
domestic e-commerce industry. Although the Group recorded a
decrease in the profit for the year, it was, however, mainly due to
recognition of the non-recurring listing expenses.
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C ha | rman ’S State Mment continvea

The Group's major customers are multi-national companies engaged
in various industries, including pharmaceutical, fast-moving
consumer goods, etc. During the year under review, stable growth in
the business of the Group’s major customers drove continued
increase in the demand for the Group’s logistics services, which in
turn led to rise in the Group’s revenue. In particular, the revenue
from the transportation services segment increased due to the
increment in the revenue from export sea freight forwarding agency
services, which was mainly contributed by a newly secured customer
who expanded its overseas business.

In order to enhance its service quality, the Group replaced old
transportation vehicles and expanded its vehicle fleet during the year
under review. The Group also upgraded its vehicle fleet, such as
installation of a GPS to track routes and monitor fuel consumption.
Replacing old transportation vehicles with new ones not only
enhanced operational efficiency, but also reduced maintenance
expenses of vehicles, which effectively lowered operating costs. The
Group will continue to renew and expand its vehicle fleet in the
coming financial year.

During the year under review, the Group further expanded its
warehouses by leasing a new warehouse with an approximate area
of 9,000 square metres (“sq m"), thereby further expanding the
aggregate area of the Group’s warehouses to approximately 68,000
sq m. In the year under review, the Group also carried out system
upgrade of its warehouses, such as installing the “Wechat” booking
system, which effectively reduced manpower and enhanced
operational efficiency.

In addition, the Group also participated in tendering for services of
different companies to broaden its customer base. During the year
under review, the Group actively introduced new customers, thus
diversifying its customer base. The Group will continue to look for
new customers and expand its scope of existing services, so as to
meet customers’ growing demand for logistics services.
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C ha | rma ﬂ ’S State me nt (Continued)

PROSPECTS

China has now entered the crucial stage of development, with
continued growth in consumption demand, accelerating upgrade of
consumption structure, growing influence of consumption on
economic growth. The China Economic Forecast Report predicted
that China'’s final consumption will sustain a continued growth trend
in 2018, reaching RMB47.24 trillion.

Looking ahead in the coming year, given the rapid development
trend of e-commerce, it is expected that it will not only drive
business expansion of the Group’s customers, which will in turn
stimulate development of the logistics services sector, but will also
create enormous opportunities for growth of the Group’s business.
The Group remains cautiously optimistic about the development of
the logistics industry in 2018. The continued business development
of the Group’s customers is expected to provide strong support to
the Group’s stable operations. The establishment of new overseas
plants by our international customers is anticipated to raise the
demand for the Group’s export sea freight forwarding agency
services, which will drive growth in the Group’s transportation
business.

Comparing to traditional transportation and warehousing services,
the Group’s professional in-plant logistics services not only meet
customers’ warehousing needs, but also effectively improve the
overall business process of the customers and help optimize their
productivity. As customers recognize that in-plant logistics services
can effectively reduce costs and help improve efficiency, demand for
in-plant logistics services from customers continues to rise. It is
expected that the Group will provide in-plant logistics services for
one more manufacturing plant of our customer in the current year to
further expand the Group’s share in the in-plant logistics services
market.

The Group is actively developing automated storage facilities and
upgrading existing warehouse system. It will introduce intelligent
logistics management system for the advanced planning of the
supply chain process and ensuring efficient flow of services. The
Group will also optimize its warehouse system to increase its
efficiency and enhance the economies of scale of the existing
warehouses, with the aim to meet increasing customer demand.
Currently, the Group is carrying out the first phase of automation.
Construction has commenced in 2018, and it is expected that the
upgrading of automated facilities in one of the existing warehouses
will be completed within this year. Upon the completion and
inauguration of the Group’s first automated warehouse, it could
serve as a showcase, allowing the customers to experience the
efficiencies and economic benefits brought forth by intelligent
automated warehouse.
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C ha | rman ’S State Mment continvea

The Group will also gradually increase the market share of its mature
in-plant logistics business in different regions by expanding this
business in the North China and the East China regions. After the
Spring Festival, the Group will start to provide in-plant logistics
services to a customer in the East China region, thereby increasing
the number of facilities using the Group's in-plant logistics services
to eight. In addition, the Group will further expand its vehicle fleet
and optimize the use of its fleet to enhance the Group's
transportation services, reduce operating costs and expand its
business scope to cope with the growth of the transportation
business. With respect to market expansion strategy, the Group will
implement sales and marketing plans, so as to promote its business
development and maximize its brand effect, while actively exploring
business opportunities and seizing market development
opportunities.

With the rapid development of the consumer market and increasing
diversification of consumers’ needs, industrial manufacturers are
more inclined to focus their resources on the development of
products and production processes. The cooperation of
manufacturers and third-party logistics companies has become a
new trend in the manufacturing industry. As a well-established
logistics service provider in China with more than 20 years of
experience, the Group strives to enhance its competitive advantages
by providing a wide range of flexible logistics services. It will continue
expanding its customer base to further consolidate the Group’s
brand and solid foundation in the logistics industry. Moreover, the
Group will continue to explore opportunities to expand its business,
including but not limited to identifying suitable entities for mergers
and acquisitions or opportunities for cooperation with third-party
companies.
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Cha | l'ma n ’S Statement (Continued)

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the management team, | would like to take this
opportunity to thank our staff for their contribution to the Company
and to our customers for their support and trust over the years. In
2018, the Group will continue to strive to achieve better performance
in return for shareholders’ support.

Li Jianxin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 14 March 2018
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

The Group provides a wide range of logistics services to meet the
needs of our customers’ supply chains in the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC"), which include (i) transportation; (ii) warehousing;
(iii) in-plant logistics; and (iv) customisation services (which consist
mainly of labelling services and bundling services).

The scope of logistics services that we provide to each customer
varies as different customers often require different kinds of services
and expertise. We normally offer transportation services to our
customers to deliver inventory (which includes production materials,
components and finished goods) to their downstream clients,
manufacturing plants and/or designated locations. We also offer
warehousing services to our customers. We had six warehouses
located in the Guangdong Province with an approximate total area of
68,000 square metres. Apart from the provision of traditional
transportation and warehousing services, we also provide our
customers with in-plant logistics services which cover the
management of the movement of (i) production materials and
components and work-in-progress to the production lines within
their manufacturing plants; and (ii) finished goods out to their factory
gate. Our range of services gives us a competitive advantage over
other logistics service providers in the PRC which offer only a limited
range of services.

Our business is built on a customer-oriented culture, and we focus
on establishing relationships with reputable customers by providing
flexible, reliable and timely logistics services. With our proven track
record in the logistics industry, we have established a broad
customer base comprising customers from various industries,
including pharmaceutical, FMCG (Note), packaging, health and
beauty and other industries.

Note:

Fast-moving consumer goods, such as diapers, tissues and toothpaste
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Management Discussion and Analysis coninea
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In addition, prior to the provision of logistics services, we will discuss
with our customers in relation to (i) their delivery plan, which
specifies the points of delivery and the delivery schedule; (i) their
warehousing plan, which includes storage requirements; and (iii)
their other logistics plans, which include their shipping schedules
and other specific logistics requirements, if any. Such information
will be transmitted into our intelligent logistics management system
for the advanced planning of the supply chain process and to ensure
efficient flow of services. We believe our ability to plan logistics
solutions in advance not only allows us to provide our customers
with flexible logistics services, but also, in the long run, enhances our
collaborations and relationship with our customers.

Our Directors believe that our ability to provide logistics services to
our customers for over 20 years would not only enable us to
generate stable revenue, but such relationship, can also
demonstrate our ability to perform and complete logistics services to
a high quality standard and build up our reputation in the logistics
industry in the PRC.

Looking forward, we intend to expand and develop automated
storage facilities and systems to improve the capacity and efficiency
of our existing warehouses. We believe the installation of automated
storage facilities and systems is crucial for maintaining our
competitiveness and strengthening our position in the logistics
industry in the PRC. At the first stage of automation, we target to
finish upgrading one of our existing warehouses by the end of 31
December 2018.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The revenue of the Group increased by approximately 24.7% from
approximately RMB154.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2016 to approximately RMB192.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2017. The increase was mainly attributable to the increase
in the transportation services during the year ended 31 December
2017.

Revenue generated from the transportation services increased by
approximately 61.2% from approximately RMB55.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2016 to approximately RMB89.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2017. The increase of the
transportation services was mainly attributable to the increase in the
export sea freight forwarding agency services during the year ended
31 December 2017, which was mainly contributed by a new
customer obtained during the year 2016.

Revenue generated from the warehousing services increased by
approximately 12.1% from approximately RMB37.3 million for the
year ended 31 December 2016 to approximately RMB41.8 million for
the year ended 31 December 2017. The increase was primarily driven
by the increase in orders from our customers.

Revenue generated from the in-plant logistics services remained
relatively stable at approximately RMB59.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2016 and RMB59.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2017.

Revenue generated from the customisation services decreased by
approximately 33.3% from approximately RMB2.1 million for the year
ended 31 December 2016 to approximately RMB1.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2017. The decrease was mainly due to the
drop in demand for our customisation services from our customers.
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Employee benefits expenses

Employee benefits expenses primarily consisted of (i) wages and
salaries; (i) social security fund and insurance contribution; and (iii)
other allowances and benefits. Our employee benefits expenses
amounted to approximately RMB56.8 million and RMB63.7 million for
the year ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2017,
respectively. The increase in employee benefits expenses of RMB6.9
million over last year was primarily attributable to (i) the increase in
the average monthly Salary of our staff and workers and (ii) the
increase in the overall benefits and the associated social security
fund and insurance contribution. Our Group had a total of 872 and
857 full-time employees as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December
2017, respectively.

Sub-contracting expenses

Sub-contracting expenses primarily represented the amount paid to
our subcontractors for the provision of certain transportation
services. Our sub-contracting expenses amounted to approximately
RMB35.8 million and RMB58.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2016 and 31 December 2017, respectively. In general, the
subcontractors charged us based on the price stated in the
subcontracting agreements which specify the price for each type of
services they provided. The increase of sub-contracting expenses
was mainly attributable to the increase in the export sea freight
forwarding agency services during the year ended 31 December
2017, for which we assisted our customers to obtain cargo space
from shipping companies or shipping agents that meet the
customers’ requirements through outsourcing to independent
subcontractors.

Other expenses

Other expenses mainly include (i) fleet vehicles operating expense
which mainly includes the fuel costs and maintenance expenses of
our fleet vehicles; (i) utilities expense which mainly includes the
water and electricity expenses; (iii) office and telephone expense
which mainly includes the general office expenses and long-distance
calling fees; (iv) insurance expenses for the warehouses and
transportations; (v) entertainment and travelling expenses for
business soliciting; and (vi) others which mainly include maintenance
expenses for the warehouses, professional fee and other
miscellaneous expenses. Our other expenses amounted to
approximately RMB15.9 million and RMB20.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2017, respectively. The
increase in other expenses of RMB4.8 million over last year was
primarily attributable to the increase in (i) the utilities expense,; (i) the
fleet vehicles operating expense; and (jii) the general corporate and
other administrative expenses incurred as a result of the Listing.
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Profit for the year

Our profit for the year amounted to approximately RMB14.1 million
and RMB6.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 and 31
December 2017, respectively. The decrease was mainly due to
recognition of the non-recurring listing expenses of approximately
RMB11.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2017 (year ended
31 December 2016: RMB2.7 million).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s operation and investments were financed principally by
cash generated from its own business operations. As at 31
December 2017, the Group had net current assets of approximately
RMB84.2 million (2016: approximately RMB10.3 million) and cash and
cash equivalents of approximately RMB45.1 million as at 31
December 2017 (2016: approximately RMB26.8 million). The Directors
confirm that the Group will have sufficient financial resources to
meet its obligations as they fall due in the foreseeable future.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2017, the gearing ratio (calculated on the basis of
total bank and other borrowings divided by total equity at the end of
the year) of the Group was zero (2016: 0.69). The decrease of gearing
ratio was attributable to the repayment of bank borrowings of
RMB16.0 million during the year ended 31 December 2017.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group's business activities are in the PRC and are primarily
denominated in RMB. A subsidiary of the Group had foreign currency
sales and purchases, which exposed the Group to foreign currency
risk. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the Directors will continuously monitor the related
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

CHARGE ON THE GROUP'’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2016, our bank borrowings of RMB16.0 million
were secured by (i) pledge of properties and land use rights held by
certain Directors and/or their family members; and (i) the personal
guarantee of Mr. Li Jianxin (an Executive Director of the Company)
and his spouse. These bank borrowings had been fully repaid during
the year ended 31 December 2017 and the securities were released
before the Listing .
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Our Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2016 and 2017.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had a total capital commitment
of approximately RMBO0.7 million (2016: nil), representing capital
expenditure contracted for but not provided in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of acquisition of property, plant and
equipment.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES

In preparing for the initial listing of the shares of the Company on the
GEM of the Stock Exchange, the companies now comprising the
Group underwent a group reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”)
to rationalise the group structure. Pursuant to the Reorganisation,
the Company became the holding company of the Group formed
after completion of the Reorganisation. Details of the Reorganisation
are more fully explained in the section headed “History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure” of the prospectus of the
Company dated 29 September 2017 (the “Prospectus”).

Save as aforesaid, during the year ended 31 December 2017, the
Group had no material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE
GROUP

As at 31 December 2017, the Group did not make any significant
investments.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: nil).

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Company's shares were successfully listed on the GEM on 18
October 2017. There has been no change in the Company’s capital
structure since 18 October 2017. The capital structure of the Group
consists of net debt, which includes bank borrowings, net of cash
and cash equivalents, and equity attributable to the owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital, various reserves and
retained profits. The Directors review the Group’s capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, issuance of new shares as well as the issue of new debt
and redemption of existing debt.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group employed 857 (31 December
2016: 872) full time employees. The total employee benefits
expenses of the Group amounted to approximately RMB63.7 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: RMB56.8 million). We
determine the employee’s remuneration based on factors such as
qualification, duty, contributions, years of experience, the prevailing
market conditions and the Company’s remuneration policy.
Employees’ benefits include contributions to retirement scheme.

The Company also adopted a share option scheme approved on 26
September 2017, details of which are set out in the Report of the
Directors of this annual report.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds from the offering of the shares of the Company by
way of share offer (the “Share Offer”), net of underwriting
commission and relevant expenses, amounted to approximately

HK$38.8 million.

The actual use of proceeds since Listing are as follows:

FRiEMERZ

BEETT-

Planned use

ARRFARMDEE (TRBBE]) HABERMNAHT
SHREFE R EHMS REBMX)H /388

FISSRIAR EMRMEBRAZNT

of proceeds Actual
stated in the use of
Prospectus proceeds
since since
Listing to Listing to
31 December 31 December
2019 2017
BEERE
FREFR 8 &R 1E 8RR
RLEHEE RLEHEE
20195 2017 5
12A31H 12A31H
EEE RS HERRAE
HKS$'million HK$'million
BEAT BEAT
Upgrading warehouses by installing automated @8 % & B8 A FERE L
storage facilities and systems REHAREE 18.0 -
Expanding existing in-plant logistics business AERMEEL RERMER
in the North China and East China regions AR ES 6.0 -
Expanding vehicle fleet B RE K 4.0 -
Enhancing sales and marketing effort IoRtHE R EHTIE 4.0 -
Repaying the bank loans EEBRITER 4.0 4.0
General working capital —REEED 2.8 2.8
38.8 6.8
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The business objectives as stated in the Prospectus were based on
the best estimation of the future market conditions made by the
Group at the time of preparing the Prospectus. The use of proceeds
was applied in accordance with the actual development of the
market.

As at 31 December 2017, approximately HK$6.8 million out of the net
proceeds from the Listing had been used. The unused net proceeds
have been deposited in licensed banks.

The Company intends to apply the net proceeds in the manner as
stated in the Prospectus. However, the Directors will constantly
evaluate the Group’s business objectives and may change or modify
plans against the changing market condition to attain sustainable
business growth of the Group.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Jianxin (R ®3%7), aged 56 and is the younger brother of Mr.
Li Jianming, was appointed as a Director on 22 November 2016 and
was redesignated as an Executive Director and appointed as the
chairman of the Board on 31 March 2017. Mr. Li Jianxin is also a
member of the Nomination Committee and the compliance officer of
the Group. Mr. Li Jianxin is responsible for managing the overall
operation and developing the overall strategic planning and business
management of the Group. Mr. Li Jianxin has over 20 years of
experience in the logistics industry and in managing the Group’s
operations and negotiating business deals with clients. Mr. Li Jianxin
has been the vice president of the Guangzhou Logistics & Supply
Chain Association (& /1 %77 2 4 & #2 17 &) since July 2005 and he
completed a business administration course at the Sun Yatsen
University in 2014.

Mr. Li Jianming (E#8), aged 58 and is the elder brother of Mr.
Li Jianxin, was appointed as an Executive Director and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company on 31 March 2017. Mr. Li Jianming
is also a member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Li Jianming is
responsible for monitoring the business operation and formulating
sales strategies of the Group. He has approximately 20 years of
experience in the logistics industry. Mr. Li Jianming joined the Group
in July 2005 as the general manager and subsequently became its
managing director in August 2016. Mr. Li Jianming completed his
secondary school education in 1976.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence (&R ), aged 50, was appointed as
an Independent Non-executive Director on 26 September 2017. He is
the chairman of the Audit Committee. He is currently a director of an
accounting firm based in Hong Kong.

Dr. Wan obtained a bachelor of law degree from the Tsing Hua
University, PRC in January 2004; and a doctorate degree of
philosophy in business administration from the Bulacan State
University in the Philippines in May 2006. Dr. Wan is a certified public
accountant (Practicing) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Dr. Wan has over 10 years of experiences in taxation
advisory, business management and accounting with several
professional accounting firms and companies.
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Dr. Wan has been an independent non-executive director of the
Union Asia Enterprise Holdings Limited, a company listed on the GEM
(stock code: 08173) and the Trillion Grand Corporate Company
Limited, a company listed on the GEM (stock code: 08103) since
November 2015 and December 2015, respectively. From January
2014 to April 2015, Dr. Wan was an independent non-executive
director of the China National Culture Group Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 745).

Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy (#% %), aged 49, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 26 September 2017. Dr. Wu
is the chairman of each of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee.

Dr. Wu is currently a senior lecturer of the Department of
Accountancy and Law at The Hong Kong Baptist University. He
attained a doctorate degree in law in December 2003, a postgraduate
certificate in law in June 1994 and a bachelor degree in law in
November 1993, all from The University of Hong Kong. He also
obtained a master’s degree in business administration from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 2013. His writings
include the second edition of his co-authored book on financial
services published in early 2015. He is a co-author of the Guide to
Corporate Governance for Subvented Organisations, the second
edition of which was published by the Hong Kong Government in
June 2015.

Dr. Wu was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of
the Convoy Financial Services Holdings Ltd (now known as Convoy
Global Holdings Ltd) from March 2010 to June 2015. From 2006 to
2012, he was a member of the Advisory Group on Share Capital,
Distribution of Profits and Assets and Charges Provisions for the
rewrite of the Companies Ordinance, on appointment by the
Financial Services and Treasury Bureau of the Hong Kong
Government. From 2011 to 2016, he was a member of the Advisory
Group on Modernisation of Corporate Insolvency Law, also on
appointment by the Financial Services and Treasury Bureau. He has
been serving the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
as a director of a professional diploma programme in insolvency
since 2012.
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Mr. shao Wei (BB{&), aged 51, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 26 September 2017. Mr. Shao is a member
of each of the Nomination Committee, the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Shao has been employed by the KPMG Advisory (China) Limited
since April 2013. He is currently a director of the same company,
where he is responsible for offering management consultation to
clients, with a focus on strategy and business model development,
management and leadership enhancement, organisation
development and operation improvement.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Lin Jianfang (# &%), aged 45, is the financial controller of the
Group. Ms. Lin joined the Group in December 1997 and has been the
financial manager since January 2008. Ms. Lin is responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial matters such as financial reporting,
accounting, tax and other compliance related matters of the Group. Ms.
Lin obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from the China Central
Radio and TV University (R EREERAZ) in July 2006.

Mr. Jiang Xianchuan (58 ), aged 56, joined the Group since May
2000 and has been the chief operating officer since April 2010. Mr. Jiang
is mainly responsible for overseeing the Group’s project management
and warehousing and logistics operations. Mr. Jiang has over 15 years of
logistics operation experience. Mr. Jiang completed his high school
education in 1981.

Ms. Yang Jianxin (#8%%7), aged 41, joined the Group since February
1997 and has been the business manager since June 2008. Ms. Yang is
mainly responsible for negotiating the Group's service contracts with
customers and preparation of business performance analysis and
contracting quotations of the Group.

Ms. Yang obtained her logistician qualification certificate issued by
the China Federation of Logistics & Purchasing (= %y (R s g B &
&) and the National Logistics Standardization & Technology
Committee (& B ¥ it 12 £ (L & flf &£ 8 &) in December 2006. Ms.
Yang completed her high school education in 1996.
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Ms. Fan Wing Ki (G8§k), aged 43, was appointed as the
Company Secretary of the Company on 31 March 2017. Ms. Fan is
registered as a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) with The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has over 16 years
of experience in accounting, auditing, taxation and corporate
secretarial practices and procedures in Hong Kong. Prior to 2014,
Ms. Fan was employed by C.B. Wong & Co., an accounting firm in
Hong Kong, where her last held position was audit manager. After
her departure in 2014, Ms. Fan started her own practice of Certified
Public Accountant (Practising) in Hong Kong.

Ms. Fan obtained a higher diploma in accountancy and a master of
arts degree in international accounting from the City University of
Hong Kong in 1998 and 2005 respectively. She has been a member
of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2002
and a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since 2006.
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Corporate Governance Report
TERERHRE

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in order to uphold the transparency of the Group and
safeguard interests of the shareholders of the Company. To
accomplish this, the Group has established policies and procedures
for compliance with the principles and code provisions (the “Code
Provisions”) set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code") and Corporate Governance Report contained in Appendix 15
to the GEM Listing Rules.

As the shares of the Company were successfully listed on the GEM
on 18 October 2017 (the “Listing Date"), the CG Code was not
applicable to the Company for the period from 1 January 2017 to 17
October 2017, being the date immediately before the Listing Date.
The Company has complied with all applicable Code Provisions as
set out in the CG Code during the period from the Listing Date to 31
December 2017 (the “Relevant Period”).

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors in accordance with Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules (the “Code”). The Company has made specific
inquiry with all the Directors, and has not been notified of any non-
compliance with the required standard of dealings and the Code by
the Directors for the Relevant Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Company aims to establish and maintain a competent and
independent Board to supervise the Group's business. The Board is
primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of
the Group. The Board sets the Group’s mission and standards and
ensures that the requisite financial and human resources support
are in place for the Group to achieve its objectives.

The Board has established Board committees and has delegated to
these Board committees various responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference. The Board may from time to time
delegate certain functions to senior management of the Group if and
when considered appropriate. The management of day-to-day
operation of the Group’s businesses and implementation of the
business plans, strategies and policies adopted by the Board has
been delegated to the senior management of the Group.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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The main functions performed by the Board include but are not
limited to the following matters:

formulating the Group’s strategy and direction and monitoring
the implementation thereof:

o deciding all material contracts, acquisitions, investments,
divestments, disposals of assets or any significant capital
expenditure,

o approving of the Group’s financial statements, published
reports, price sensitive announcements and other disclosures
required under the GEM Listing Rules;

o developing, monitoring and reviewing the Group’s corporate
governance practices and the effectiveness of the Group’s
financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems,

° Board appointment and other major appointments or removal,
and

o monitoring the performance of the management.

composition

As at 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this report, the Board
comprises the following two Executive Directors and three
Independent Non-executive Directors (the “INEDS"):

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Jianxin (Chairman)
Mr. Li Jianming (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy
Mr. Shao Wei

Biographical information of each of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management”
of this Annual Report.
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Except for Mr. Li Jianming being the elder brother of Mr. Li Jianxin,
save as disclosed herein, which to the best knowledge of the
Company, there is no other relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationship(s)) among the members
of the Board.

In compliance with Rule 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of the GEM Listing
Rules, the Company has appointed three INEDS, representing more
than one-third of the Board and at least one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation
of his independence, and the Company has assessed and considered
such Directors to be independent in accordance with each and the
various guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the
approach to achieve a sustainable and balanced development of the
Company and also to enhance the quality of performance of the
Company. In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has
been considered from a number of perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, industry
experience, technical and professional skills and/or gqualifications,
knowledge, length of services and time to be devoted as a director.
The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect
of potential legal action against its Directors and officers.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017
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Training and Support for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives a formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of the director’s
responsibilities under the GEM Listing Rules, legal and other
regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and
governance policies. The Company will from time to time provide
briefings to all Directors to develop and refresh their duties and
responsibilities. In accordance with the Code Provision A6.5 of the
CG Code regarding continuous professional development, the
Company had received the training record from each of the
Executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Jianxin and Mr. Li Jianming and
each of the Non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Wan Ho Yuen,
Terence, Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy and Mr. Shao Wei, who had attended
training sessions and seminars as well as read materials on
corporate governance, updates on laws, rules and regulations and
accounting/financial/management or other professional skills to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills on the roles, functions
and duties of a listed company director during the year ended 31
December 2017.

Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records

The Board is scheduled to meet four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals with notice given to the Directors at least 14 days
in advance. For all other Board meetings, notice is given in a
reasonable time in advance.

All Directors are provided with adequate information before the
meetings. To enable the Directors to be properly briefed on issues
arising at the Board meetings and to make informed decisions, an
agenda and the accompanying Board papers together with all
appropriate and relevant information in relation to the matters of the
meetings are sent to all Directors at least three days before the
intended date of each regular Board meeting. The Directors are
allowed to include any other matters in the agenda that is required
for discussion and resolution at the meeting.

The Directors may participate the meetings either in person or
through electronic means of communications. The Directors have
separate and independent access to the company secretary and
senior management from time to time.
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During the Relevant Period, only one meeting of the Board was held
at which the Directors discussed and approved, amongst other
matters, the Group's quarterly report, results announcement and
unaudited consolidated financial statements for the nine months
ended 30 September 2017.

The attendance of each Director at the Board Meeting during the
Relevant Period is set out below:
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Number of Attendance/

Number of
Board Meeting
Name of Directors EENE HEXS EETGERXE
Executive Directors HITEFE
Mr. Li Jianxin R AE 1/1
Mr. Li Jianming ZAGEEA S A 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUIFHITESE
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence A RIE T 11
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy HRZEE T 11
Mr. Shao Wei BME AL 11

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term under their service
contracts and every Director is subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years in accordance with the articles of association of the Company.

Under the articles of association of the Company, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only
until the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

According to the Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO") should be
separate and performed by different individuals to ensure a balance
of power and authority so that power is not concentrated in any one
individual. The roles of the Group’s Chairman and CEO are
complimentary, but importantly distinct and separate. Mr. Li Jianxin,
Executive Director, is the Chairman and is responsible for the
leadership of the Board, managing the overall operation and
developing the overall strategic planning and business management
of the Group while Mr. Li Jianming, Executive Director, is the CEO and
is responsible for monitoring the business operation and formulating
sales strategies of the Group.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the INEDs has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for an initial term of service commencing from the Listing
Date and shall continue thereafter subject to a maximum of three
years unless terminated by either party giving not less than one
month’s notice in writing.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three board committees (the “Board
Committees”), namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, with defined terms of
reference explaining their respective roles and the authority
delegated by the Board. These defined terms of reference are
available on the respective websites of the Company and the GEM.

The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense.
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Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 26 September
2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28
to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph C.3 of the CG Code
and Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix 15 to the
GEM Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal of
external auditors; review the financial statements and material
advice in respect of financial reporting; and oversee internal control
and risk management procedures of the Group.

The Audit Committee comprises the three INEDs, namely, Dr. Wan
Ho Yuen, Terence, Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy and Mr. Shao Wei. Dr. Wan
Ho Yuen, Terence is the chairman of the Audit Committee, who has
appropriate professional qualifications and experience in accounting
matters. None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former
partner of the existing external auditors of the Company, Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu.

For the period from 26 September 2017 (date of establishment of the
Audit Committee) to 31 December 2017, one meeting has been held
by the Audit Committee, at which the Audit Committee reviewed the
Group’s unaudited consolidated financial statements for the nine
months ended 30 September 2017.

The attendance record of each member at the Audit Committee
Meeting held in 2017 is set out below:
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Number of Attendance/

Number of
Audit Committee Meeting
HERE
Name of Directors EENe ERERAZEERRY
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence B RIE T 11
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy HRZEE T 11
Mr. Shao Wei AER - 11
There had been no disagreement between the Board and the Audit  FAIEFIERE - EF2REZZEGUEERHIX -

Committee during the Relevant Period.
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At the Audit Committee Meeting held subsequently on 14 March
2018, all the members of the Audit Committee reviewed the
Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2017, including the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group, the Company’s compliance with the
CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report, the
effectiveness of the Group's internal control and risk management
systems and recommended to the Board for consideration the re-
appointment of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the Company’s
independent external auditors at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 26
September 2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rules 5.34 to 5.36 of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph B.1 of the
CG Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix
15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the
Group; review performance-based remuneration; and ensure none
of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three members:
one Executive Director, being Mr. Li Jianming, and two INEDs, being
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy and Mr. Shao Wei. Dr. Wu Ka Cheeg, Davy is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

For the period from 26 September 2017 (date of establishment of the
Remuneration Committee) to 31 December 2017, no meeting has
been held by the Remuneration Committee. Due to the fact that the
Company was just listed on 18 October 2017 and most of the existing
Directors were appointed in September 2017, the Remuneration
Committee considers that it is not necessary to review the overall
remuneration policy of the Group in the first two months after its
listing.

Subsequent to 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this report,
the Remuneration Committee held its first meeting on 13 March
2018, at which all members of the Remuneration Committee
reviewed the remuneration packages for the Directors and senior
management and making recommendations to the Board.

ate Governance Report (ontines
iy

%1&%2018&3)%145%7%%@?% &L

BEXZZEGNEBTHAR B E2017F12
ﬁmatirsﬁ,ﬁ&%ﬁ TEMIBHE - BEAE
BEFHEAN S ERRER AAFETEEE
BT ZERNRRALEERREFNEESE - A
EERNIEEFLERERERGUAREEEEER
EERRAFAG LERENEEEY « BER
B AT AR A RIE S HNEAZ BRAT o

TMEZEE

ANRFE 20179 A 26 B 1R 5 GEM L 1 #7 A
255.34 %2 53615 2 GEM = 1 #5 Al ff 8% 15 AT
EEATAEBIE R EEARE KL H B
ZEg  YruEEBEDE

FER e T ERARMAREZRBEZLS
REEEZERFHBRRERRBRERTSRME
BER  BEHURBEASERZHFMH  RiEREE
EXRTEEHM -

FMEREERBHM=-2KEBANK  —RRNITE
= IREHASLE  HMAYRBIIFNITE
T AMREBLIRERLL - BREBLEH
MEZEEXRE -

B2017F9R26B(FMEZE SR IAH)E
2017 12 AN B ILHIME - FrNE 8 g W mE1T
T ARARQFMMN2017F108188 £t
BREABEEER 201759 AEEIE  HBE
EERABEN LTEREMEARHAEENE
BT BN R

R2017F12ANBEREEZERAREBHA R -
FMEZEBEEMN2018F3 A 1I3ARTEE NS
#ﬁ%iﬁ@%%ﬁ%%@i%ﬁ%%&%?&%ﬁ
ABBFHFBERMESSREREES -

AR (

29



30

corpor
bR EAR L

Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 26
September 2017 with written terms of reference in compliance with
paragraph A.5 of the CG Code and Corporate Governance Report as
set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis;
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members;
assess the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors,
and make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee currently consists of three members:
one Executive Director, being Mr. Li Jianxin, and two INEDs, being Dr.
Wu Ka Chee, Davy and Mr. Shao Wei. Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

For the period from 26 September 2017 (date of establishment of the
Nomination Committee) to 31 December 2017, no meeting has been
held by the Nomination Committee. Due to the fact that the
Company was just listed on 18 October 2017 and most of the existing
Directors were appointed in September 2017, the Nomination
Committee considers that it is not necessary to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board and identify any new Board
member in the first two months after its listing.

Subsequent to 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this report,
the first meeting of the Nomination Committee was held on 13
March 2018, at which all members of the Nomination Committee (i)
reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board; (ii)
assessed the independence of the INEDs; and (iii) recommended to
the Board for consideration the re-appointment of all the retiring
Directors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions, which includes developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies, practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, the
Company's policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements etc. During the year, the Board has reviewed
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company has appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as its
external auditors for the year ended 31 December 2017. Details of
the fees paid/payable to Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu during the year
are as follows:
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Audit services BRI 793
Non-audit services IEEZARTE -
Total @t 793

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
financial statements for the relevant accounting periods which give a
true and fair view of the Group’s financial position, results of
operations and cash flows. In preparing the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2017, the Directors have applied
applicable accounting policies, adopted appropriate accounting
standards and prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the Group’s external auditors, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, on the Company’s consolidated financial statements are
set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 52 to 57 of this
Annual Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Fan Wing Ki (“Ms. Fan") was appointed as the Company
Secretary of the Company on 31 March 2017. Ms. Fan has been
informed of the requirement of the Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing
Rules, and she confirmed that she had attained no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training during the year of 2017. Biographical
information of the Ms. Fan is set out in the section headed
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this Annual
Report.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting ("EGM")

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, an EGM shall
be convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for shareholders to send enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may raise questions, request for publicly available
information and provide comments and suggestions to the Directors
and management of the Company. Such questions, requests,
comments and suggestions can be addressed to the Company by
post to Room E, 10/F, Full Win Commercial Centre, 573 Nathan Road,
Kowloon, Hong Kong or via telephone at +86 20 38770505.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward
proposals at shareholders’ meetings

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to move new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Law
(Revised) of Cayman Islands. However, pursuant to the articles of
association, shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by
means of requisition convene an EGM following the procedures set
out above.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Save for the adoption of a new Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company by a special resolution passed on 26
September 2017 and became effective on 18 October 2017 for the
purpose of the Listing, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the year ended 31 December 2017.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

In order to ensure timely, transparent and accurate communications
between the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”)
and the Company, in general, information is communicated to the
Shareholders mainly through the Company’s interim reports, annual
reports and quarterly reports, general meetings, as well as the
corporate communications and publications published on the
website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and on the
Company’s website (www.goalrise-china.com).

The annual general meetings and other general meetings of the
Company are the primary communication forum between the
Company and the Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to
participate in general meetings physically or to appoint proxies to
attend and vote at such meetings for and on their behalf if they are
unable to attend.

Board members, in particular, the chairman of the Board Committees
or their delegates, appropriate senior executives and external auditor
will attend the general meetings to answer the Shareholders’
questions.

The chairman of the general meetings will propose to vote the
resolutions (except resolutions which relate purely to procedural or
administrative matters) by poll in accordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company. Scrutineer will be appointed for the
vote-taking at the general meetings and the voting results will be
published on the Stock Exchange's website (www.hkexnews.hk) and
the Company’s website (www.goalrise-china.com) subsequent to the
close of the general meetings.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board recognizes its responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and ensuring that the
Group establishes and maintains appropriate review on the overall
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems, which cover financial, operational and
compliance controls, to safeguard Shareholders' investment and the
Group's assets. The Board oversees the overall risk management of
the Group and endeavours to identify, control impact of the identified
risks and facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating
measures. The principal risks and the relevant measures have been
disclosed in the section headed "Principal Risks and Uncertainties” in
the Report of the Directors on page 37 of this report. The Group'’s
systems of risk management and internal controls are designed to
manage, but not eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can only provide reasonable but not absolute,
assurance against the risk of material misstatement, fraud or l0ss.

The Company does not have an internal audit function and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an
internal audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature
and complexity of the Group’s business. It was decided that the
Board would be directly responsible for internal control of the Group
and for reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have been designed
for safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition,
ensuring the maintenance of proper accounting records for the
provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for
publication, and ensuring compliance with applicable laws, rules and
regulations. The situation will be reviewed from time to time.

The Board reviews the risk management and internal controls
annually and has, through the Audit Committee and with the
assistance of the management and external auditors, conducted a
review of, and is satisfied with the effectiveness and adequacy of the
risk management and internal control systems for the year ended 31
December 2017 as well as the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017

ate Governance Report «contined

Rk EERAIPEE

[l B B IR e AR ES 1

E= AT RETHIERAEERE B IZE
FIEEEINRREERRE  WRRAEER
T REEHAEERKREIE N AP RFHE
BARODRERATHEHN(ER P RUE - &E
RAMENE) MRERRZIRERAEBEE -
EEFAEEEBASENERERER  WBE
2HHEBR - EHTENRROZE  WIRHEE
WA —BRERERE T ZRBEBBEEER
ABREFFTEEFERE [T ERARETEERA

B EBEE - AEEEREERABEZERLS
SHEEE(MIOER) REBEREBRENER -

WRAEME AR - MEFHBRIBHAIE (M 3F
BY) IRE -

ARBAEAFBEAZEBAE - WA AR SER A E
BEBHORE  HEREMRE  AEEWETH
FERUANEZBE CREHEZTEEEKER
BEARSENARES Wigs EE R o HIFTERF
EEREEELERERENERARGE - #IF
FAEE G RE AR ENTBEEHRAR
B WHERETEBERE - RARE

1R o BT EITIRET ©

EESETFRIAAREERANIET  WEBRE
ZZ B gREERRE RIMNIZER A EN T H R
HE2017F12A3NMHIEFEMRREE KA
ERRGRNEARFTRREURANA RS R
BERBAEENER - BIERERER - AREF
REUREEN T EREFERFTTRRIRE



corp

1=

mf 9

N AN =

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company has established and maintained procedures and
internal controls for the handling and dissemination inside
information. The Company has adopted a code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance
with Rules 5.46 to0 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Other employees of
the Group who are likely to be in possession of inside information of
the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. Any inside
information and any information which may potentially constitute
inside information is promptly identified, assessed and escalated to
the Board and for the Board to decide on the need for disclosure.
Inside information and other information which is required to be
disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules will be announced on
the respective websites of the GEM and the Company in due course.
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Report of the Directors
EEGHE

The Directors are pleased to present their annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements for the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2017 (the “Financial Year").

REORGANISATION AND LISTING

In preparing for the initial listing of the shares of the Company (the
"Shares”) on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "stock Exchange”), the companies now comprising the Group
underwent a group reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”) to
rationalise the group structure. Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the
Company became the holding company of the Group on 29
December 2016. Details of the Reorganisation are more fully
explained in the section headed “History, Reorganisation and
Corporate Structure” of the prospectus of the Company dated 29
September 2017 (the "Prospectus”). The Group resulting from the
Reorganisation is regarded as a continuing entity.

The Shares of the Company have been listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing”) since 18 October 2017 (“Listing
Date").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company was incorporated on 22 November 2016 in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands (the “Companies Law").

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set forth in note 28 to
the consolidated financial statements. The Group is principally
engaged in the provision of logistics services.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

A review of the financial performance and business of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2017 and a discussion on the
Group's future business development are set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 4 to 17 of this Annual Report. These discussions
form part of this Report of the Directors.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A number of factors may affect the results and business operations
of the Group, major risks are summarised below and further details
of the Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies are
set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

Cconcentration risk of reliance on limited nhumber of
customers

The Group derived a significant portion of our revenue from a limited
number of customers. For the year ended 31 December 2017, the
five largest customers of the Group contributed approximately 87.8%
of total revenue to the Group. There is a risk that these significant
customers to cancel or terminate the service agreements with the
Group without cause and no assurance that these significant
customers will continue their business relationship with the Group or
that the revenue generated from these customers will increase or be
maintained in the future. The Group will continue to expand the
customer base to mitigate the risk.

Intense competition

The industry in which the Group operates is fragmented. The Group
may be less competitive than some of its competitors in terms of
scale of operations and cannot assure that it will be able to continue
to compete successfully in its existing markets. The Group is
committed to compete in the market based on its ability to provide
comprehensive, flexible and reliable logistics services to its
customers and price.

Reliance on subcontractors for handling transportation
services

Certain transportation services are subcontracted to independent
third party subcontractors. Performance of our subcontractors for
transportation services may fail to meet the requirements of the
Group or those of our customers which may lead to a delay or failure
in delivering our services to our customers. There is no assurance
that the Group would be able to closely monitor the performance of
the subcontractors but the Group will try to maintain and enhance its
business relationship with the subcontractors for providing good
quality of transportation services to the customers.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with its
employees, providing quality services to its customers and
enhancing cooperation with its business partners.

The Company provides a fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity
to our staff, provides competitive remuneration and benefits and
career development opportunities based on their merits and
performance. The Group also puts ongoing efforts to provide
adequate trainings and development resources to the employees so
that they can keep abreast of the latest development of the market
and the industry and, at the same time, improve their performance
and self-fulfillment in their positions.

The Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with customers and provide the services in a way that
satisfy needs and requirements of the customers. The Group
enhances the relationship by continuous interaction with customers
to gain insight on the changing market demand for the services so
that the Group can respond proactively. The Group has also
established procedures in place for handling customers’ complaints
to ensure customers’ complaints are dealt with in a prompt and
timely manner.

The Group maintains close liaison with its subcontractors to monitor
their performance to ensure they meet the Group's standards at all
times.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiary in the PRC while the Company itself is listed on the GEM.
The establishment and operations accordingly shall comply with
relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong. During the
year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this report, the
Group has complied in material aspects with all the relevant laws
and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group understands the importance of environmental
sustainability and protection and has adopted policies on pollution
prevention, preservation of natural resources and adherence to
environmental laws and regulations. Further details are disclosed in
the "Environmental, Social and Governance Report” prepared in
accordance with Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules, which will be
published on the respective websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange in due course.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance through its continuous effort in improving the
business practices. Details about the principal corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 22 to 35 of this Annual Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 and
the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at that date are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 58 to 126
of this Annual Report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2017.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements and the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 61 of this Annual Report, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2017, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution comprising share premium and retained profits,
calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law,
amounted to approximately RMB22.7 million (2016: nil), of which nil
dividend was proposed for the year. Under the Companies Law, the
share premium account of the Company of approximately RMB37.8
million as at 31 December 2017 (2016: nil) is distributable to the
shareholders of the Company subject to the provisions of its
memorandum and articles of association and provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend, if any, is
proposed to be paid, the Company will be able to pay its debts as
they fall due in the ordinary course of business. The Company’s
share premium account may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last three financial years, as
extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company or the Prospectus, is set out on pages 127 to 128 of this
Annual Report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the movements in the Company'’s share capital during the
year are set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

Prior to the Listing, the Company conditionally adopted a share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 26 September
2017 which became effective and unconditional upon the Listing. The
purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the Group to grant
options to the Eligible Persons (as defined in the Prospectus of the
Company) as rewards or incentives for their contribution to the
Group.
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The Board may, at its absolute discretion, offer an option to the
Eligible Persons to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an
exercise price and subject to the other terms of the Share Option
Scheme. The total number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company shall not in
aggregate exceed 80,000,000 shares of the Company, being 10% of
the total number of shares in issue at the time dealings in the shares
first commence on the Stock Exchange and there was no change in
the total number of shares of the Company available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme and the percentage of the issued share
capital that it represented as at the date of this report.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to or to be granted to each
Participant (as defined in the Prospectus of the Company) under the
Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of
the shares in issue. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for
a period of 10 years. Under the Share Option Scheme, each option
has a 10-year exercise period unless otherwise determined by the
Board.

The exercise price for the shares of the Company subject to Share
Option Scheme will be a price determined by the Board and notified
to each Participant and shall be the highest of (i) the closing price of
the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
guotations sheet on the date of grant of the share options, which
must be a trading day of the Stock Exchange; (i) the average closing
price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily guotations sheets for the five trading days of the Stock
Exchange immediately preceding the date of grant of the share
options; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are contained in the
section headed “Statutory and General Information — D. Share
Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus.

No share option has been granted, exercised, expired, cancelled or
lapsed pursuant to the Share Option Scheme since its adoption by
the Company and up to 31 December 2017.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group during the
Financial Year are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Among these related party transactions, save as the rental expense
for office premises (as disclosed in note 23(b) to the consolidated
financial statements) constituted continuing connected transaction
which is fully exempt from the relevant reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Directors confirm that no other related party transactions conducted
during the Financial Year constituted connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions which require disclosure under
the applicable requirements of Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed and confirmed that the continuing connected transaction
has been entered into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group; (i) on normal commercial terms; and (iii) in accordance
with the relevant agreement governing the continuing connected
transaction on terms that are fair and reasonable and are in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD BY THE
GROUP

As at 31 December 2017, the Group did not make any significant
investments.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Jianxin
Mr. Li Jianming

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen, Terence
Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy
Mr. Shao Wei
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In accordance with Articles 108(a) and 112 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, Mr. Li Jianxin, Mr. Li Jianming Dr. Wan Ho Yuen,
Terence, Dr. Wu Ka Chee, Davy and Mr. Shao Wei will retire by
rotation and be eligible to offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence from the Group,
and as at the date of this report still considers them to be
independent pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Company are set out on pages 18 to 21 of this Annual Report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the
date of the Listing. The Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen Terence, Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy and Mr. Shao Wei,
have been appointed for a term of three years commencing from the
date of the Listing.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Board has the general power of determining the Directors’
remuneration, subject to authorisation of the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting each year. The
remuneration of the Executive Directors is subject to review by the
Remuneration Committee, and their remuneration is determined
with reference to the Directors’ qualifications, experience, duties,
responsibilities and performance and results of the Group. As for the
Independent Non-executive Directors, their remuneration is
determined by the Board upon recommendation from the
Remuneration Committee. Details of the emoluments of the
Directors, senior management and the five highest paid individuals
are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

RBEA R F ) ERRAD RS 108(a) R 11216 - 2R i
et REAKLE  OREREL  BHREBL
K AME f A B RERET S BRI RITHAR
RBFRE L EREE -

ZK"ﬂEuﬁz“Jxﬁjaﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁm&’%ﬁIWK
EEMBELNFERERL MEEAREAE
*ET)%GEMLW%EE'J%S.O‘? & RREMDRBZSE
EEEINAER -
EENSNEEBAEERE
EERARABREREREF BN EAFRE
18%F21H

EENRBELN

ERATERHEARTFTIREHH - BIRE
LTHHHEAM=F - BUIFATEF(ANRE
RIBL - BREFELRAEEL)EHRE LTA
HESM=%F -

BRI RITHRRBFAS LEENEEME
BARBRIMAERARBAEHE CEEMER
SN TR —FERRIENRIEA L

EEHM
EXERBERREFARRBFASH THORE
BAE-RRNIETEFHH - ATEFNFHFHNAE
XrMEZE R REFNHFHOIKSEES
AR &5 BE BELRRUARKREED
XKEMEE - WBILIFFRTEFMS - WENH
MomEEERBFMEEeNEBERME
E-EE SAERABRAERSFMALD
IR BN R B M RRMEED -

IR (RE)

F—
<

TEFR

12 EBEAT 43



44

Report of the Directors wontines
EEgHEe

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, no Director had a
material beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed for the year ended 31 December 2017.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, at no time during
the year had the Company or any of its subsidiaries entered into any
contract of significance with the controlling shareholders or any of
their subsidiaries, nor had any contract of significance been entered
into for the services provided by the controlling shareholders or any
of their subsidiaries to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, the applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them may incur or sustain in the
execution of their duties in their offices. The Company has arranged
appropriate Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for
the Directors and officers of the Group, in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2017, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
have taken or deemed to have under such provision of the SFQ), or
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company:

ESRTETHRAERKRAD - HE
RORESHHEZRAR

R2017F12A31H - EERARAEEITHA
BRADAISEEMEEEZE (R RLES LE
S0 ((EBEFRARER ) EXVE) kG - 8
ARG RESFT  RERBEESRAEGKHIE7
k8D IEME AR R REZFTHERIKE (B
FEIREF H R EEDIE BIEEEEE ER
RBEERNERIAE)  HBEBEHF XSG
8 352 7B RC 8 A B A I FIT 5 5 R0 11 PO O A 2 ok
#KE - SRR GEM _ETTAR RIS 5.46 E 5.67 {5 7B 40
BANE KRR ERSOAB DT

RAR RN

Approximate

Number and class percentage of

Name of Directors Capacity of securities shareholding

ERgA a4 EHEHARMER KEEEBHESLL

Mr. Li Jianxin (Note) Interest in a controlled corporation, 303,300,000 37.91%
interest held jointly with another person Ordinary Shares

ZRfERR S A (BTEE) REGNEEER  BE - ATHEFENER 303,300,000 37.91%
% E AR

Mr. Li Jianming (Note)  Interest in a controlled corporation; 303,300,000 37.91%
interest held jointly with another person Ordinary Shares

ZRIEEASE A (3E) REGLEEER  BE - ATHEFENER 303,300,000 37.91%
% E AR

Note: Goal Rise Profits Limited (“Goal Rise") is the registered and beneficial owner
holding approximately 37.91% of the issued shares of the Company. The issued
share capital of Goal Rise is owned as to 80% by Mr. Li Jianxin and 20% by Mr. Li
Jianming. By virtue of acting in concert arrangement between Mr. Li Jianxin and
Mr. Li Jianming which is confirmed and documented in the Concert Parties
Confirmatory Deed, each of Mr. Li Jianxin and Mr. Li Jianming is deemed to be
interested in the entire shareholding interests of Goal Rise in the Company under
the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company or their associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interests and short
positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which each of them
has taken or deemed to have taken under the provision of the SFO),
or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered into the register referred to therein; or which were required,
pursuant to rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the date of this annual
report were rights to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such
rights in any other body corporate.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save and except for the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in the
paragraph headed “SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION SCHEME"
above, no equity-linked agreement that (i) will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or (i) requires the Company enter into any
agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing shares,
was entered into by the Company during the year ended 31
December 2017 or subsisted at the end of the year.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2017, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons, not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company had, or were deemed to have, interests or short position in
the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO; or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or
indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of the Company:

TERRRRORAEER G #E

3RO

R2017F 128318 » BEEAE © TIALQE
FEERADRAESITERAR) RIRGH B/
MR SRR A IRIEE F R E KA 5 XV
EHE2 K 3D FESCA R AR B 5 H) 3 05 50%
B RN AR AIRIEE FH MBS 15151 5 336
BAEFE 2B TMERSUAR  REEREE
B A WS R PTG R T PR R R B R
R FIREMTRERIARAEE 5% sk A _Figas

Approximate
Number and class percentage of

Name of shareholders Capacity of securities  shareholding

BRERE S ESHERERN BRERHESL

Goal Rise (Note 1) Beneficial owner 303,300,000 37.91%
Ordinary Shares

feert (Hrat 1) EnEEA 303,300,000 37.91%
P i AR

Ms. Chen Ruihua (Note 2) Interest of spouse 303,300,000 37.91%
Ordinary Shares

BRIREE L (Mat2) G 3 303,300,000 37.91%
el

Ms. Wu Xiaojie (Note 3) Interest of spouse 303,300,000 37.91%
Ordinary Shares

RN+ (Mat3) [k £ 303,300,000 37.91%
e A

Mr. Lee Seo Thin Patrick (“Mr. Lee") (Note 4) Interest in a controlled corporation 54,000,000 6.75%
Ordinary Shares

Lee Seo Thin Patrick 5t 4 ([Lee S ) (Afzt4)  SIERIEE R 54,000,000 6.75%
e

Junliet Profits Limited ("Junliet Profits”) Beneficial owner 54,000,000 6.75%
(Note 4) Ordinary Shares

Junliet Profits Limited ([ Junliet Profits|) EmEBA 54,000,000 6.75%
(Kiat4) I B

Mr. Zhu Zhijian (“Mr. Zhu") (Note 5) Interest in a controlled corporation 206,700,000 25.84%
Ordinary Shares

REREE([FREED (H5E5) AR EE R 206,700,000 25.84%
el

Portree Wealth Limited ("Portree Wealth") Beneficial owner 206,700,000 25.84%
(Note 5) Ordinary Shares

BEREAVEERAR((HEEME] (W5 ExEEA 206,700,000 25.84%
el

@FWH (FE) BRERAT | 47
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Notes:

1. Goal Rise is the registered and beneficial owner holding approximately 37.91% of
the issued shares of the Company. The issued share capital of Goal Rise is owned
as to 80% by Mr. Li Jianxin and 20% by Mr. Li Jianming. By virtue of acting in
concert arrangement between Mr. Li Jianxin and Mr. Li Jianming which is
confirmed and documented in the Concert Parties Confirmatory Deed, each of
Mr. Li Jianxin and Mr. Li Jianming is deemed to be interested in the entire
shareholding interests of Goal Rise in the Company under the SFO.

2. Ms. Chen Ruihua is the spouse of Mr. Li Jianxin and is deemed, or taken to be,
interested in the entire shareholding interests of Goal Rise in the Company under
the SFO.

3. Ms. Wu Xiaojie is the spouse of Mr. Li Jianming and is deemed, or taken to be,
interested in the entire shareholding interests of Goal Rise in the Company under
the SFO.

4. Junliet Profits is the registered owner holding approximately 6.75% of the issued
shares in the Company. The entire issued share capital of Junliet Profits is owned
by Mr. Lee. Under the SFO, Mr. Lee is deemed to be interested in all the shares
registered under the name of Junliet Profits.

5. Portree Wealth is the registered owner holding approximately 25.84% of the
issued shares in the Company. The entire issued share capital of Portree Wealth
is owned by Mr. Zhu. Under the SFO, Mr. Zhu is deemed to be interested in all the
shares registered under the name of Portree Wealth.

All the interests disclosed above represent long positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, the Directors
are not aware of any other person, other than Directors and the chief
executive of the Company who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or indirectly, to be
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of the Company or options in respect of such share capital.

COMPETING INTERESTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Directors are not aware
of any business or interest of the Directors, the substantial
shareholders of the Company or any of their respective associates
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) that competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group
and any other conflicts of interests which any such person has or
may have with the Company.
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The Company has received annual confirmations from the controlling
shareholders, Mr. Li Jianxin, Mr. Li Jianming and Goal Rise Profits
Limited, in respect of their compliance with the non-competition
undertaking. The Independent Non-executive Directors have
reviewed such undertaking and are of the view that Mr. Li Jianxin,
Mr. Li Jianming and Goal Rise Profits Limited have complied with the
non-competition undertaking during the year ended 31 December
2017.

INTERESTS OF COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As at 31 December 2017, save for the compliance adviser agreement
entered into between the Company and CLC International Limited
("CLC") on 28 September 2017, neither CLC, the compliance adviser
of the Company, nor any of its Directors, employees or close
associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) has any interests in
the securities of the Company or any other companies of the Group
(including options or rights to subscribe for such securities) pursuant
to Rule 6A.32 of the GEM Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Save for the Share Offer, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities after the Listing Date and up to the date of this
report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There were no provisions of pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its
existing shareholders unless otherwise required by the Stock
Exchange.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
annual report.
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DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, charitable donations of
approximately RMB20,000 were made by the Group (2016:
RMB8,000).

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

In the year under review, the Group’s largest supplier accounted for
approximately 23.2% (2016: 24.7%) of the Group’s total direct costs.
The Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 71.8%
(2016: 54.9%) of the Group's total direct costs.

In the year under review, the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 87.8% (2016: 82.8%) of the Group's total
revenue. The Group's largest customer accounted for approximately
36.4% (2016: 39.3%) of the Group's total revenue.

None of the Directors or any of their associates (as defined under the
GEM Listing Rules) or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company's issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest
customers or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31
December 2017.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee was established on 26 September 2017 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.
The Audit Committee is responsible for making recommendation to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditors, and approving the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditors, and any questions regarding
resignation or dismissal of that auditor; monitoring integrity of the
financial statements, the annual reports and accounts, half-year
reports and quarterly reports, and reviewing significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them; and reviewing the financial
controls, internal control and risk management systems.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of the
Company the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group and discussed the auditing, internal controls and financial
reporting matters, including review of the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2017.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Board is not aware of any important events affecting the Group,
which have occurred subsequent to 31 December 2017 and up to
the date of this report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year
were audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, the independent
auditors, who shall retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting (“AGM”"). A
resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor and to authorise the
Directors to fix its remuneration.

On behalf of the Board

Li Jianxin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 14 March 2018
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Y& fz EXEN R

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

GOAL RISE LOGISTICS (CHINA) HOLDINGS LIMITED
@74 (hE) RERRAR

(Previously known as “Zhonglian Logistics (China)
Holdings Limited E:¥i% (P E ) ERERHFRAF ")
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Goal Rise
Logistics (China) Holdings Limited (the “Company”, previously known
as “zhonglian Logistics (China) Holdings Limited &4 (Fh B) 2
% & BR 2 &") and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 58 to 126, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

FARESTSIH

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment, RBEREHEEATENEEHE D  S5HAHR
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial “G&AMBRETREENEIE - EENEEHEE
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the #GAMBEBREREMLFRE ARKEIEZEE - B
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a EE &t =EEFHRRER -

whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on this matter.

Key audit matter
MREEHNFER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
ESEEATEERBEAETENGE

Estimated provision for impairment of trade receivables

B 53 B Yy gk TE e 51t B 72 0

We identified the estimated provision for
impairment of trade receivables as a key audit
matter due to the management judgment involved
in assessing the recoverability of trade receivables.
EERE S RBRBEMATIREREER RERET
FI1H - DHNERERTEE S EYKGIER] B
B FI T AT R

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, in determining the provision for
impairment of trade receivables, the management
considers the credit history of the trade
receivables, including default or delay in payments,
settlement records, subsequent settlements and
aging analysis.

AR E ISR MI T 4 TR ER - B E B 5 RIRFIER
ERER  TEEZRESEKFIENEELSE £
FHRASEERNR - SECHE  BENEERRLE
BT ©

The management concluded that no allowance for
bad and doubtful debts is required. As disclosed
in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements,
the carrying amount of trade receivables as at 31
December 2017 is RMB64,975,000.
ERERABAEERERERE - NEEUB
WERMTE1AFTIE - R2017F 128318 E5EHK
FIARAREE R AR 64,975,000 7T ©

Our procedures in relation to estimated provision for impairment
of trade receivables included:
BMEBE S ERFEADRERENZFEE

o Obtaining an understanding of the management’s process
for estimating provision for impairment of trade
receivables;

J THREBESRMTE S REFUBERERBNBE

o Reviewing the aging analysis of trade receivables as at year
end date and reviewing movement in the trade receivable
balance for the year to understand the settlement patterns
of the customers, on a sample basis;

J MEEHNEAEAESERFTIBEBNRERO T RENFEFRNE S E
WGRIB R ENE RN - LTHREFPHEEER

o Testing the accuracy of aging analysis of trade receivables,
on a sample basis, to the sales invoices;
J HIHERZHENHE S RIGIENRER D TR ERIZE

o Checking the subsequent settlements of the trade
receivables, on a sample basis, to the bank slips; and
o HIRTRRMEREEHRIRENRELSE : &

o Assessing the reasonableness of the provision for
impairment assessment of trade receivables with reference
to the credit history, including default or delay in payments,
settlement records, subsequent settlements and aging
analysis, on a sample basis, of individual customer.

o HE2ZENEFNEERN  RREEASITEENK  £8
o BENSEERREERRS T - TEE S ERFIERE
BENEIEN -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017
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Independent Auditor’s Report onines
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

REMRBEN GRS BHRRARE
MEE
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017
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From the matter communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine that matter that was of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and is therefore the key audit matter. We describe this matter
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Chung Chi Man.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

14 March 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meEBEmkEMEENER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z2017F12A318 ILFE

2017 2016
2017 § 2016 4
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
HizE AR®TT ARBT T
Revenue U %5 5 192,075 153,975
Other income, gain and losses Hag A - Uiz REE 160 644
Employee benefits expenses EERFIFEZ (63,715) (56,826)
Sub-contracting expenses X2l (58,679) (35,788)
Operating lease rentals KEHERS (19,497) (18,524)
Depreciation of property, Y BEMREITE
plant and equipment (3,900) (4,193)
Interest expense on bank borrowings BITHE A ERX (1,223) (719
Listing expenses FRX (11,286) (2,749)
Other expenses HibFAx (20,655) (15,935)
Profit before taxation MR RTE T 13,280 19,885
Income tax expenses FrS R 7 (6,342) (5,778)
Profit for the year F R A 8 6,938 14,107
Profit and total comprehensive income AR AT F s &
for the year attributable to: SEWELREE
— owners of the Company — ARAEAA 6,938 5,697
— non-controlling interests — RS - 8,410
6,938 14,107
Earnings per share BREF 1
— Basic, RMB cents — AR ARESD 1.08 0.95
— Diluted, RMB cents — - ARKES 1.08 N/A 738 F

58 | Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
AR R

At 31 December 2017 FA20174F12831H

2017 2016
2017 § 20164
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
HiaE AR®TTT AR¥TT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS JERENEE
Property, plant and equipment W - WENMRE 12 7,084 9,620
Rental deposits Heke 13 3,302 3,081
10,386 12,701
CURRENT ASSETS BN EE
Trade and other receivables B 5 K& E b el Ehig 14 68,297 44,998
Amount due from a related party JE U — 4 BB 5 Fh1E 15 1,726
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRR S 16 45,114 26,800
115,137 71,798
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEAE
Trade and other payables and B 5 R HAFER IR K&
accrued expenses et 17 23,973 20,706
Amounts due to related parties FE{ST RAE4: 5 2B 15 646 20,000
Bank borrowings RITIERK 18 - 16,000
Tax payable FER R IR 6,299 4,745
30,918 61,451
NET CURRENT ASSETS mENEERE 84,219 10,347
NET ASSETS HERE 94,605 23,048

AR (RE) BERERAT | 59
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position continea

IN=NUEY NI e

At 31 December 2017 #2017412H831H

2017 2016
2017 § 2016 4
NOTE RMB’000 RMB'000
Kat AR®TTT AR®ETT

CAPITAL AND RESERVES B& % By i
Share capital RN 19 6,761 -
Reserves & 87,844 23,048
TOTAL EQUITY Eaka 94,605 23,048

The consolidated financial statements on pages 58 to 126 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 14
March 2018 and are signed on its behalf by:

Li Jianxin
REW
DIRECTOR
2F

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017
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Li Jianming
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DIRECTOR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
AR BR

For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

- YNGIE 2PN L
Share
capital/ Non-
paid-in Share Statutory Other Retained controlling
capital premium  reserve  reserve profits  Sub-total interests Total
BE/ b3
EhEsx BRER EEHE 2 RUEE  REERT Uiy #a &
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTL ARETL ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
(note 19) (Note )
At 1 January 2016 R2016E181A 10,110 - 892 - 3616 14,618 6,882 21,500
Profit and total FRENREE

comprehensive income Wa e

for the year - - - - 5,697 5,697 8,410 14,107
Transfers =R - - 1,701 - (1,701) - - -
Capital injection into EERMNPERT

Guangzhou World-Link (R&EEME)

(as defined in note 1) - - - - - - 7441 740
Conversion intoajoint stock M B BFE A

company with limited R BRAR

liability for Guangzhou (EERMED

World-Link (as defined in (hrztin)

note 1) (Note i) - - - 3,550 (3,950) - - -
Arising from Reorganisation  BEMES

(as defined in note 1) (F& M)

(Note i) (Kistin) (10,110) - - 3449 9,394 2733 (22,733) (20,000)
At 31 December 2016 R85 128318 - - 2593 6999 13,45 23048 - 23,048
Profit and total FERENEZE

comprehensive income WateE

for the year - - - - 6,938 6,938 - 6,938
Issue of shares by FERBRNAER

capitalisation of share BREXEIRN

premium account (K 190)

(note 19 (i) 5071 (5,07) - - - - - -
Issue of new shares BTHRG

(note 19 (iij) (Wt 190) 1,690 49,022 - - - 50,712 - 50,712
Transaction costs attributable %77 ERk (A E(L 1)

toissue of new shares RERAE - (6,188) - - - (6,188) - (6,188)
Transfers fERe - - 2,093 - (2,093) - - -
Capitalisation of amounts e A 08

due to related parties BRER

(Note i) (W) - - - 20,095 - 20,095 - 20,095
At 31 December 2017 R017E12A318 6,761 37,763 4,686 27,094 18,301 94,605 - 94,605

EFIR (FE) ERERDH

S
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity contnes

el

A RES BT ()

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

Notes:

(ifi)

It represents statutory reserve of the subsidiary of the Company established in
the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC"). According to the relevant laws in the
PRC, the subsidiary in the PRC is required to transfer at least 10% of its net profit
after taxation, as determined under the relevant accounting principles and
financial regulations applicable to enterprises established in the PRC, to a non-
distributable reserve fund until the reserve balance reaches 50% of its registered
capital. The transfer to this reserve must be made before the distribution of a
dividend to owners. Such reserve fund can be used to offset the previous years'
losses, if any, and is non-distributable other than upon liquidation.

It represents the effect of the conversion of Guangzhou World-Link (as defined in
note 1) into a joint stock company with limited liability during the year ended 31
December 2016. According to the relevant rules in the PRC, the excess of the net
assets of Guangzhou World-Link prepared in accordance with the relevant
accounting principles and financial regulations applicable to the enterprises
established in the PRC over the 20,000,000 shares of Guangzhou World-Link with
a par value of RMB1 each issued upon the conversion of RMB6,999,000 is
recognised in a non-distributable reserve. Out of the RMB6,999,000, an amount
of RMB3,550,000 was attributable to the then owners of the Company.

It represents the effects of the acquisition of the entire registered capital of
Guangzhou World-Link (as defined in note 1) by Goal Rise Logistics (HK) (a
subsidiary of the Company, as defined in note 1) from the Li Family (as defined in
note 1) as to 50.55% and the non-controlling shareholders as to 49.45% for an
aggregate consideration of RMB20,000,000 as part of the Reorganisation (as
defined in note 1). Upon completion of the above transactions, the balances of
the retained profits and non-distributable reserve of Guangzhou World-Link (as
defined in note 1) attributable to the non-controlling interests amounting to
RMB9,394,000 and RMB3,449,000 were reclassified to retained profits and other
reserve attributable to the owners of the Company, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the amounts of RMB3,000,000,
RMB6,890,000 and RMB10,205,000 due to Joyful Huge (as defined in note 1), Max
Fame (as defined in note 1) and Mr. Li JX (as defined in note 1), respectively, were
capitalised as contributions from shareholders.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

/\\/T\ Eﬁ 7 ;/iHKJ % i%

For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

2017 2016
2017 § 2016 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARET T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES EEEH
Profit before taxation R BT S5 ) 13,280 19,885
Adjustments for: BT SIBEELFAE
Depreciation of property, W - BB MEFEITE
plant and equipment 3,900 4,193
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, HEME - R REHE () B8
plant and equipment (5) 1
Unrealised exchange losses RETIE H B8 252 -
Interest income FEMA (121) (68)
Interest expense FERZ 1,223 719
Operating cash flows before movements LEECHYNKERENE
in working capital 18,529 24,730
(Increase) decrease in rental deposits Hetke () (221) 155
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 K H b E U R IE 1 AN (23,299) (4,432)
Increase in trade and other payables and B 5 R EAM IR R
accrued expenses FERTRASIE AN 3,267 2,809
Cash (used in) generated from operations 44 (FrA)FTELER S (1,724) 23,262
Income tax paid B FEH (4,788) (4,047)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM OPERATING BEITH(FRA)REERLFEH
ACTIVITIES (6,512) 19,215
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEEH
Placement of pledged bank deposits BTSRRI TER (10,200) -
Advance to a related party f]— & BB T A K (1.726) -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEE¥Y% - KR & EE (1,425) (260)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  WENMERBTEHIE
plant and equipment 66 2
Interest income received EUFEHA 121 68
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits REUEIRIRITIE K 10,200 -
Acquisition of structured bank deposits BEEAEMRTER - (131,000)
Redemption of structured bank deposits R A B RITER = 131,000
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES BRETHFRALRSRHE (2,964) (190)
BFHIR (FE
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows continued

ATE fﬁimi% (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

2017 2016
2017 § 2016 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEFH
Proceeds from issue of shares BT TS 5RIA 50,712 -
Bank borrowings raised BEBTIER 18,735 21,000
Advances from related parties AR 7 Bk 11,175 5,110
Interest paid BAHFILE (1,223) (719)
Expense on issue of shares BITRDFY (6,188) -
Repayments to related parties IF) B Bt 77 & 3K (10,434) (5,264)
Repayment of bank borrowings BERBITER (34,735) (27,500)
Proceed from capital injection into m—EMBRAREEMSHKIA
a subsidiary = 7,441
Repayment of obligation under EERETE SR
finance leases = (913)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING MEFTHRESE (FRB)RLRH
ACTIVITIES 28,042 (845)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND HeRFACEEMEMSH
CASH EQUIVALENTS 18,566 18,180
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EFxEHTE
RATE CHANGES (252) -
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FNBRERFEER/Y
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 26,800 8,620
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FRAERBEEEY
OF THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash BIRTRBRIRS 45,114 26,800

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

GROUP REORGANISATION, BASIS OF
PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited (the “"Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability on 22 November 2016 under the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s
registered office and the principal place of business is
disclosed in the section “Corporate Information” in the annual
report.

Through a group reorganisation, the Company became the
holding company of the subsidiaries, including Goal Rise
Logistics Investments Limited & 7 %) 7% % & B BB 2 7 (“Goal
Rise Logistics (BVI)”, formerly known as Zhonglian Logistics
(China) Investments Limited B #757 (R B) IR E B R A @),
Goal Rise Logistics (HK) Limited f&F+#57% (&7%8) BR A 5] (“Goal
Rise Logistics (HK)", formerly known as Zhonglian Logistics
(China) Limited = B¢ %037 (7R B ) A BR A &), and Guangzhou
World-Link (China) Co., Ltd. E/M R EIRFIRA YR AR A A
(“Guangzhou World-Link”, formerly known as &M BT 28
RomlkhBERAG and FEIRFEXERFEBR A A)
(collectively referred to as the “Group”). The companies now
comprising the Group underwent a series of reorganisation as
set out below (“Reorganisation”).

Prior to the Reorganisation, the Group's principal business,
which are provision of logistics services to meet the needs of
the customers’ supply chains, includes (i) transportation
service, (i) warehousing service, (iii) in-plant logistics service,
which covers the management of the movements of (a)
production materials and components and work-in-progress to
the production lines within the manufacturing plants of the
customers of the Group; and (b) finished goods out to the
factory gates of the relevant customers and (iv) customisation
service, which consists mainly labelling services and bundling
services to the customers, in the PRC (collectively, the
“Logistics Business”), was carried out by Guangzhou World-
Link.

1.

EEEEARGEMBRRNE
RN 25|EE

@ErAmn(REDERERAFT(ARAE]D)
R2016F1MA2ZBRERERHE R FE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

GROUP REORGANISATION, BASIS OF
PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

From 1 January 2016 and prior to the Reorganisation, the
registered capital of Guangzhou World-Link were held as to (i)
50.55% by BEMBEAILE A B E(BRA %) ("Guangzhou
Jiansheng”), a limited partnership established in the PRC
owned as to 80% by Mr. Li Jianxin (“Mr. Li JX"), who acted as a
general partner, and 20% by Mr. Li Jianming, elder brother of
Mr. Li JX, who acted as a limited partner; (i) 15% by Joyful Huge
Limited (“Joyful Huge"), which is wholly owned by Lee Seo Thin
Patrick (“Mr. Lee"); and (iii) 34.45% by Max Fame Corporation
Limited ("Max Fame”), which is wholly owned by Mr. Zhu
Zhijian ("Mr. Zhu").

Mr. Li JX and Mr. Li Jianming have been acting in concert
(collectively be referred to as the “Li Family”) since 1 January
2016 prior to and after the Reorganisation as detailed below for
the control over the Group.

Major steps of the Reorganisation are as follows:

()  On 17 November 2016, Goal Rise Profits Limited (“Goal
Rise”) was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI")
and wholly owned by the Li Family. On 21 November 2016,
Junliet Profits Limited (“Junliet Profits”) was incorporated in
the BVI and wholly owned by Mr. Lee. On the same date,
Portree Wealth Limited (“Portree Wealth”) was
incorporated in the BVI and wholly owned by Mr. Zhu.

(i) On 22 November 2016, the Company issued 5,055, 1,500
and 3,445 shares to Goal Rise, Junliet Profits and Portree
Wealth, respectively, for cash at par value of HK$0.01
each.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continded
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

1. GROUP REORGANISATION, BASIS OF
PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(Vi)

On 28 November 2016, Goal Rise Logistics (BVI) was
incorporated. 100 shares at US$1 each were issued to
the Company, and became a directly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.

On 2 December 2016, Goal Rise Logistics (HK) was
incorporated. One share at HK$1 was issued to Goal Rise
Logistics (BVI), and became a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Goal Rise Logistics (BVI).

On 29 December 2016, Goal Rise Logistics (HK) completed
the acquisition of 50.55%, 15% and 34.45% of the
registered capital of Guangzhou World-Link at cash
considerations of RMB10,110,000, RMB3,000,000 and
RMB6,890,000 from Guangzhou lJiansheng, Joyful Huge
and Max Fame, respectively. The consideration payable
by Goal Rise Logistics (HK) to Guangzhou Jiansheng,
Joyful Huge and Max Fame for the amounts of
RMB10,110,000, RMB3,000,000 and RMB6,890,000,
respectively, are accounted for as amounts due to
related parties as at 31 December 2016, as set out in
note 15.

On 11 January 2017, Hemann Capital Management
Limited (“Hemann Capital”, which is an independent third
party to the Group) entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Junliet Profits, pursuant to which
Hemann Capital agreed to purchase 600 shares of the
Company from Junliet Profits at the cash consideration of
HK$7,000,000. Following the completion of this
transaction, the Company is owned as to 50.55%, 9%,
34.45% and 6% by Goal Rise, Junliet Profits, Portree
Wealth and Hemann Capital, respectively.

Goal Rise is considered to be the immediate and ultimate
holding company of the Company.
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GROUP REORGANISATION, BASIS OF
PREPARATION AND PRESENTATION OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Pursuant to the Reorganisation as detailed above, the
Company became the holding company of the companies now
comprising the Group on 29 December 2016. As the Logistics
Business has been under the common control of the Li Family
since 1 January 2016 prior to and after the Reorganisation, the
Group resulting from the Reorganisation is regarded as a
continuing entity. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared using the principle of merger
accounting in accordance with Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger
Accounting for Common Control Combinations” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA") on the basis as if the Company had always been the
holding company of the Group. The net assets of Guangzhou
World-Link and other subsidiaries are consolidated using the
then existing book values from the perspective of the Li Family.
No amount is recognised in respect of goodwill or bargain
purchase gain at the time of common control combination.
Capital contribution by the Li Family and other non-controlling
shareholders are accounted for as contribution from the
owners of the Company and non-controlling interests,
respectively.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
ended 31 December 2016 include the results, changes in
equity and cash flows of the companies now comprising the
Group for the year then ended, had been prepared on the
basis as if the Company had always been the holding company
of the Group and the current group structure had been in
existence throughout the year ended 31 December 2016.

The Company'’s shares were listed on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 18
October 2017.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is same as the functional currency of
the Company.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continies
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSs")

The Group has consistently adopted the HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"), amendments and
interpretations issued by the HKICPA which are effective for
the accounting periods beginning on 1 January 2017 for both
current and prior years.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised

FER#a] KRBT BB M B &/
HEA((ERMBEHREZER )

[\
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BRGFTRIAEREM - BER2017F1A18
Fia st M AE RN BT AN B REED -
BB G ER(TEBGTER D) - BFT R
Ve

AEBIWE|ITATEAZFCEMERRE
BEVH ] RSB RT BB M IME LR :

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments'

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
and its related Amendments'

HKFRS 16 Leases?

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts*

HK(IFRIC) - Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration’

HK(FRIC) - Int 23

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments?

AmendmentstoHKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of
Share-hased Payment Transactions’
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts'
Amendments to HKFRS9  Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
and HKAS 28 its Associate or Joint Venture?
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures?
Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle'
Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property’
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSS 2015 - 2017 Cycle?
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSS") (continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities,
general hedge accounting and impairment requirements for
financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the Group

all recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently measured at
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt
investments that are held within a business model whose
objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that
have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal outstanding are
generally measured at amortised cost at the end of
subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that
are held within a business model whose objective is
achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets, and that have contractual terms
that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding, are generally measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"). All
other financial assets are measured at their fair value at
subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under HKFRS
9, entities may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity
investment (that is not held for trading) in other
comprehensive income, with only dividend income
generally recognised in profit or loss.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSS") (continued)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (continued)

° in relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS 9
requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an
incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39 “Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” ("HKAS 39”).
The expected credit loss model requires an entity to
account for expected credit losses and changes in those
expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other
words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have
occurred before credit losses are recognised.

Based on the Group’'s financial instruments and risk
management policies as at 31 December 2017, the directors of
the Company anticipate the following potential impact on the
initial application of HKFRS 9:

Classification and measurement

All financial assets and financial liabilities will continue to be
measured on the same bases as are currently measured under
HKAS 39.

Impairment

In general, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the expected credit loss model of HKFRS 9 will
result in earlier provision of credit losses which are not yet
incurred in relation to the Group's financial assets measured at
amortised costs and other items that subject to the impairment
provisions upon application of HKFRS 9 by the Group. Based on
the assessment by the directors of the Company, if the
expected credit loss model were to be applied by the Group,
no material accumulated amount of impairment loss would
have to be recognised by the Group as at 1 January 2018.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSS") (continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” and its related amendments

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15 will
supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including
HKAS 18 “Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and the
related interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or
services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the standard
introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

Step 3:  Determine the transaction price

Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

Step 5. Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control” of goods
or services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance
has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios.
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued clarification to HKFRS 15 in relation
to the identification of performance obligation, principal versus
agent considerations, as well as licensing application guidance.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSS") (continued)

HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with
Customers” and its related amendments
(Continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
HKFRS 15 in the future may result in more disclosures.
However, the directors of the Company do not anticipate that
the application of HKFRS 15 will have a material impact on the
timing and amounts of revenue recognised in the respective
reporting periods.

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting treatments
for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17
“Leases” ("HKAS 17") and the related interpretations when it
becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the
basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a
customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases
are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model
where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to
be recognised for all leases by lessees except for short-term
leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease
liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the
lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as
well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others. For
the classification of cash flows, the Group currently presents
operating lease payments cash flows. Upon application of
HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease liability will be
allocated into a principal and an interest portion, both of which
will be presented as financing cash flows by the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS ("HKFRSS") (continued)

HKFRS 16 "“Leases” (continued)

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of RMB69,974,000 as disclosed
in note 20. A preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a lease under HKFRS
16. Upon application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all
these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term
leases upon the application of HKFRS 16.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of RMB3,302,000 and refundable rental deposits
received of RMB617,000 as at 31 December 2017 as rights
under leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition
of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not
payments relating to the right to use the underlying assets.
Accordingly, the carrying amounts of such deposits may be
adjusted to amortised cost and such adjustments are
considered as additional lease payments. Adjustments to
refundable rental deposits paid would be included in the
carrying amount of right-of-use assets. Adjustments to
refundable rental deposits received would be considered as
advance lease payments.

Furthermore, the application of new requirements may result
changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure as
indicated above.

Except as described above, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of other new and revised HKFRSS
will have no material impact on the Group's consolidated
financial statements in the future.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continies
ARE B S R MY R )

For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with accounting policies which conform with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis as explained in the accounting policies
set out below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair
value of the consideration given in exchange for services
rendered.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technigue. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the consolidated
financial statements are determined on such a basis, except
for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions
that are within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use
in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continea

e SRR ®)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies adopted are as follows:

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassess whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017

FESHEE®)

o M BHREMS - RV EFERE
RNHEFENBABBIBRERELAF
EFfENBARBHEERBNEEUDE
RE—B_HFE=EHR - Bam

«  FEGHARBAERRIEAN
TREMERAAE SR EOER TS
R IE (RIEAE)

e F_ERBARBABRERXABETE
EREZREENBARE £ AR
BRI+ I

s Fo-ERBABBEREEHBEMNT
AEEHABE -

PR E RS BERBN T

AR

HEMBRRLERDAURFRARL
HEAREHN S EEOMERE - BA
RAFEATHIE - AIRATRESEHE -

o HERBEHRITERS:

WEEERBRER Ll =HZH TR
—HENZBEHEED  UAEBEHENF
HEREEIREHR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements ccontinded
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group'’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group'’s relevant components of equity
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including
re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the
non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate interests. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are
adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Merger accounting for business combination
involving businesses under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements items of the combining businesses in which the
common control combination occurs as if they had been
combined from the date when the combining businesses first
came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining businesses are consolidated using
the existing book values from the controlling party’s perspective.
No amount is recognised in respect of goodwill or bargain purchase
gain at the time of common control combination.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income include the results of each of the
combining businesses from the earliest date presented or
since the date when the combining businesses first came
under the common control, where this is a shorter period.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts received or
receivable for services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group's activities, as described below.

Revenue from service income is recognised when the services
are delivered.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continded
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a
reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at
the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group'’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rate (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Government subsidies

Government subsidies are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the subsidies will be
received.

Government subsidies are recognised in profit or 10ss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
subsidies are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government subsidies whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognised as deferred income in the
consolidated statement of financial position and transferred to
profit or loss over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government subsidies that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
including government-managed retirement benefit scheme,
are charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or 10ss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continded
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
income/expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts/payments (including all fees paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income/expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Financial assets

Financial assets of the Group are classified into ‘loans and
receivables’. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of
initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including trade and other receivables, amount due
from a related party and bank balances and cash) are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses (see accounting
policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate, except for short-term receivables where the recognition
of interest would be immaterial.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at
the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are
considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the
initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future
cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment of loans and receivables
could include:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment for an individual receivable
could include the Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments
after the respective credit period, observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.

For loans and receivables, the amount of the impairment 10ss
recognised is the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash
flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continded
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the loans and receivables is reduced
by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment 10ss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
loans and receivables at the date the impairment is reversed
does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified either as financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the group entities are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
amounts due to related parties and bank borrowings) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

AR E

B SRR M5 @)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Derecognition

The Group derecognised a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the assets expire or,
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the consideration received
and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognised financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liabilities derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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StBE @)

SRIT H (&)

BUHTER
AEBESNUEENSRESRENEGY
ERERE NEEEECREENEE
BEENBAS AR EEHTES —EE
A EUEERE/EE

REEERCREER  EEREERED
Yo K e B 2 R R ZRE B s A RERR

ERAGNRAEENEFRER - BUHHE
il Hy/élﬁguuilﬁﬂﬁ{i c BUHHERNE

BEERAEREDNRENREZBNE
A 182 N FERR

W}E}

BB R
AEERSREMRBEREBLEERE
B NEEZFEERATARERBED
ReMBETMARTR  AGHEBEE
MR E SR AEEREBR(INE)H
RE - WEEMHERNEENTRE SR
AIREEghiREEMBRSELEMN
MR OISR - ERHEERE R DR
E AR E‘J’Aﬂﬁ?‘?ﬁﬂ“@ﬂéﬂ%ﬁﬁ%
EEBMN - B RAEEKD EEEE
ERE-—BOEEENK/RSELEM
CEGII

AU B 5 B8 2 X SRR B A E{E B (B
BEMEzRSE - RNFEEREER
AARARASRESHKAMAR KRS
HIR(E - MaBATRAIR KA RS B
MEEREE (RREELEMN) (HARKR
EREBMEFTAEHE) FERBRNERTS
AF il o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continded

A

B SRR M5 @)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Impairment l0sses (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment 10ss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The following is the key assumption concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within
the following twelve months.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continuead)

Estimated provision for impairment of trade
receivables

When assessing whether there is objective evidence of
provision for impairment loss, the management considers the
credit history of the trade receivables, including default or
delay in payments, settlement records, subsequent
settlements and aging analysis. The amount of the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition). Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31
December 2017, the carrying amount of trade receivables is
RMB64,975,000, net of allowance for doubtful debts of nil
(2016: RMB42,398,000, net of allowance for doubtful debts of
nil). No impairment loss on trade receivables has been
recognised during the year (2016: nil).

REVENUE

AT RERENEEZRIER @)
B 5 W IR G AR E B A5

B A TR EBBREENTBRERE
EEEeZRESBWFENEERS
BIERRREENR - B8R BREN
HEEIRRRBRER DI - BEFBESENIR
BEREERGFAKBSRE CFREDY
REAMARREEBHR) RENEZEEZSR
BEREERF LR (BIEVRERE
HMEBRFAEK)TE - WEBRARESRE
RATEEE - AP BE I IR ERREEE - R
2017512 A3 H - E S EIIARREE
BARE64,975000 L (MBRREEES)
(20165 © AR 42,398,000 7T (F1 Bk R B
BET)) BMEALFERE HERKE
HEREMFERE(2016F : ) -

Wz
2017 2016
2017 2016 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARET T

Transportation service income Ew REUA 89,319 55,358
Warehousing service income BRI WA 41,759 37,251
In-plant logistics service income R P AR A A 59,626 59,271
Customisation service income TE R RIEWA 1,371 2,095

192,075 153,975

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continded
rE SRR M @)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. THER
The Group's operating segments are determined based on AEENKEDBHIRBERERSEEEK
information reported to the chief operating decision maker (the WM AREEELERRE (KARFIH
“CODM") of the Group, being the executive directors of the TEETFRAEENBAGTINES) ([XBE
Company, who are also the directors of the operating BREE ] ERMNERET -

subsidiary, for the purpose of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

The CODM regularly reviews revenue and results analysis by (i) FELEBREERONVEGRSE (B FR
transportation service, (ii) warehousing service, (iii) in-plant % 5 (i) B AR RS & (v) & 2R E 2
logistics service; and (iv) customisation service. ERW R REESIT

The details of the Group's operating segments are as follow: REBLEDBOFBEAT
Transportation service —  Provision of logistics services

EE R REYRRT

Warehousing service — Provision of inventory storage and management services

2 HRTE RHESRH LR ER RS

In-plant logistics service — Provision of wide-range of in-house services at customers’ manufacturing

plants to integrate the production processes, which cover the management of
the movements of (a) production materials and components and work-in-
progress to the production lines within the manufacturing plants of the
customers of the Group; and (b) finished goods to the factory gates of the
relevant customers
TR 94 AR 755 EEPHEEREREEZHN EFRBESEERE  REUTEHHNERIE

@QEAEEEZEFPEEREASEEDR LB RERMEEFER © D) HK
m RN Z AR P &R

Customisation service — Provision of labelling services and bundling services
T RIRTE REFERS K EHERE

feF R (RE) 2R EBE 3| 89

TEFR

F—
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)

e SRR ®)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results

by operating and reportable segments.

For the year ended 31 December 2017

DEER ()

DU ES K EAE

T AREERCE R 2R BEDH
Wk o BB AT

BZE2017F12A831BLFE

In-plant
Transportation  Warehousing logistics Customisation
service service service service Total
ERR% 41181 BEA i bR EEEH st
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TRT AR®TRT AE®TT AE%TT AR%TR
Revenue Wz
External sales HIMNEE 89,319 41,759 59,626 1,371 192,075
Results E3
Segment results DEEE 17,878 7,334 14,106 629 39,947
Listing expenses Aaiilihd (11,286)
Unallocated corporate KA EAZIA
income 160
Unallocated corporate A ERERX
eXpenses (15,541)
Profit before taxation BRBADR T 13,280

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continded

For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment revenue and results (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2016

ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ)
2P (#8)

BZE2016F12A8318LFE

In-plant
Transportation Warehousing logistics  Customisation
service service service service Total
ERRY BRRS BN RS T 2R 5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Revenue g
External sales AN EE 55,358 37,251 59,271 2,095 153,975
Results B
Segment results DEEE 10,976 7,723 14,509 938 34,146
Listing expenses Y (2,749)
Unallocated corporate R AEM 2K A
income 644
Unallocated corporate & pEM 2R
expenses (12,156)
Profit before taxation B ATEF 19,885

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment results represent profit earned from each segment
without allocation of listing expenses, certain corporate income
and expenses. This is the measure reported to the CODM of
the Group for the purpose of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities

No analysis of segment assets or liabilities is presented as they
are not regularly provided to the CODM.

R R & SR BB R 3 AT AN SR
& IRERER - &P EA RS D 2PAT IR
BesEs > BYRDELETHS  FT8
EPRARRX - W IAAREEETEEER
REZWAD BRI ERRHOFET
E e

NEEEMRE
MREBEERRERETHRRD BA
ERHHABNER  RALB2F BB

IR (FE) ZERERAE]
—T—tFFER



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)

e ISR R @)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER (&)
Other segment information H A5 EBE R
For the year ended 31 December 2017 BZ2017F12A31BLLEE
In-plant
Transportation  Warehousing logistics Customisation Segment
service service service service Total Corporate  Consolidated
EHRE ERBE  BAMRRE it 1 St it 4 af
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AE®TT AE®TT AEWTT AE®TT AERTT AERTT AERTT
Amounts included in the PEEEHE
measure of segment FANEE
results:
Depreciationof property, W% - BR R
plant and equipment HENE 705 2,338 8 - 3,051 849 3,900
Gain on disposal of property, #1% - BER
plant and equipment RELERS - - - - = (5) (5)
For the year ended 31 December 2016 BE2016F12831BLFE
In-plant
Transportation Warehousing logistics  Customisation Segment
Service Service service Service Total Corporate Consolidated
EBRE BRRE  BARERS TR D& i aff
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANEBTT ARBTTI ANEBTT ARBTI ANRBTI ARBTI ARETT
Amounts included in the AigE e
Measure of segment HANEE:
results:
Depreciation of property, ¥ - BER
plant and equipment RENE 676 2733 11 - 3420 77 4193
Loss on disposal of property, 1%~ BER
plant and equipment RETEEE - - - - - 1 1
Geographical information i & & Y

The Group's revenue are all derived from operations in the PRC
and the Group’s non-current assets are located in the PRC by

location of assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continded

For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the reporting period contributing
over 10% of the Group's revenue are as follows:

PEHER @)
ERAEXERFHEFR

MERE AN EE RN EE BB I0%0E
PUkEsmT ¢

2017 2016

2017 2016 4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTT ARETTT

Customer A BEA 69,911 60,505
Customer B ZFB 48,256 48,770
Customer C ZEC 38,299 N/AT3E A *
156,466 109,275

Revenue from Customers A and B are generated from all of the
transportation service, warehousing service, in-plant logistics
service and customisation service segments, revenue from
Customer C are solely generated from transportation service
segment.

KEEFPARKEFPBHKGELBMAER
IR - BRERS - BAYIR IR K E SR
Bl MEPCHKRREELBEHR

BoEs e

* Customer C did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue of the Group * H=E2016F12ANALFE  FFCLEESR
for the year ended 31 December 2016. AR B I 3B 10% ©
INCOME TAX EXPENSES FrigBix
2017 2016
2017 % 2016
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR#EFTT
Current tax & HARIE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") B ZEATSH ([ REEMEE])
— current year — BRIEE 6,342 5,778

PRC EIT is calculated at 25% of the estimated assessable profits
for both years.

R 4F B R B 1 BE P AR B AR A R I AR B0 A
E,‘]25%E+7-r

EFIR (FE) ERERDH
—T—tFFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 7. Fi8®BEX (@)
The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the FAMSHAZ THEGGERREMEAE
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit W2k MEBR AT R P S BRI -

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2017 2016
2017 ¢ 2016 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARWTT ARETT

Profit before taxation B BT Vs ) 13,280 19,885
Tax at PRC EIT rate of 25% 2 B 1 P15 7 25% 1)
MEGENE 3,320 4,971

Tax effect of expenses not deductible TAIMFB RS MRS T2

for tax purposes 3,022 807
Income tax expenses for the year FERPTSHFE X 6,342 5,778
As at 31 December 2017, the aggregate amount of temporary 2017 F 12 A31 8 -+ 8 & #E R IE I8
differences associated with the undistributed earnings of BEEEMNPERTORSIREHNE B
Guangzhou World-Link for which deferred tax liabilities have By R AR A A RME 26,759,000 7T (2016
not been recognised was RMB26,759,000 (2016: F: ANR#6,741,0007T) - T ARZ S =
RMB6,741,000). No deferred tax liability has been recognised in ERAEERIBAE  REARAREHER
respect of these differences because the Group is in a position R E R AR B R R EEENT]
to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary BARRIG T KA ge#El -

differences and it is probable that such differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

There is no other significant unrecognised deferred taxation for L AR Bt B K R SRR AE AR I ©
both years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continied)

ARE B S R MY R )

For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

8. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRRF
2017 2016
2017 § 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TTT ARET T
Profit for the year has been arrived L0k (FEA) AT & IHE
at after charging (crediting): BHEOFERNRZAH
Directors’ remuneration: EEEHMH
— Fees — e 67 -
— Salaries and other allowances — & R EAhERL 1,544 1,388
— Retirement benefit scheme — R B
contributions 84 8
1,695 1,396
Other staff salaries and allowances HEMiE B e KoER 51,620 48,549
Retirement benefit scheme contributions, & k& FET &4 2 -
excluding those of directors TRFEEEZEE 10,400 6,381
Total employee benefits expenses EERFFZBE 63,715 56,826
Fleet operating expenses BHREERS 5,765 5,530
Auditor's remuneration 1% BRI 5 A
— Audit services — BHR 793 -
— Non-audit services — BB - 223
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BER
plant and equipment = (Wezs) B8 (5) 1
Bank interest income RITHBULA (121) (68)
Government subsidies (Note) TR R 8 (B 53D (132) (500)
Exchange losses (gain) P 5 518 (M) 163 77)

Note: The government subsidies mainly represented the subsidies for early

retirement of motor vehicles which do not comply with latest

environmental regulatory requirement with
attached before recognition.

no unfulfilled conditions

Bfat : BURHEL £ BIERER TR M B AR E R G R IRAT
iﬁ@iT?\”n%%ﬁ%%%%ﬁ%ﬂiﬁ’ﬂmﬁﬁwﬁﬁﬁ

@AW (FE) BRERAT | 95
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)
4T A I ISR R EE @)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 9. EE - BETHAEREES
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS i &
(@) Directors’ and the chief executive’s @ EEEKEZETTRAEMNE
remuneration
Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the EEFAEEBENNENARFES
directors and the chief executive of the Company by the MESITRAENMESMFBET
group entities during the year are as follows:
For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZE2017F12831BLLEE
Retirement
Salaries henefit
and other scheme
Name of director RS Fees allowances contributions Total
wek BT
ne Hfth Ay FHEIER st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR®TR AR®RTR AR®TR

Executive directors; HTES:
M. Li JX (Note ) RSk (B13E) - 947 42 989
Mr. Li Jianming (Note i) SRU2RA 5L A (WL i) = 597 42 639

Independent non-executive BUFHITES

directors:
Dr. Wan Ho Yuen Terence BERET (M)

(Note iv) 26 - - 26
Dr.Wu Ka Chee Davy (Note i) #5284 (Bt iv) 26 - - 26
Mr. Shao Wei (Note iv) BB (Hiativ) 15 - - 15

67 1,544 84 1,695
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continied)
BB MR @

For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

/T\

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@)

9. EE - BRETHRAEBREES
[LEAC §

Directors’ and the chief executive’s @ EEA&EITHRAE
remuneration (continued) M )
For the year ended 31 December 2016 BZE2016F 12831 LLFE
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Name of director EEHA Fees allowances  contributions Total
Hek RIRER
we H 28 HE S by
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFTL AREFTL AREFT
Executive directors: HITES:
Mr. Li JX (Note i) REEHLE (WiEi) - 826 830
Mr. Li Jianming (Note if) RS E (Hiti) - 562 566
- 1,388 8 1,39
Notes: iz -

(iii)

(vi)

Mr. Li JX was appointed as a director of the Company on 22
November 2016 and redesignated as an executive director on 31
March 2017.

Mr. Li Jianming was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 31 March 2017. Mr. Li Jianming is also the chief
executive of the Group and his emoluments disclosed above
include those for services rendered by him as the chief executive.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

Dr. Wan Ho Yuen Terence, Dr. Wu Ka Chee Davy and Mr. Shao Wei
were appointed as independent non-executive directors on 26
September 2017.

The independent non-executive directors” emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

The emoluments of each of the directors of the Company were
less than HK$1,000,000 for both years.

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

BEFRER2016FNA2NAEER(T
AATEEW R 201743831 BAT
WITES -

REEAEEN 2017 FIANBREZER
AABRNITESR - BRALLETRASE
E&=STHAS  EXARELHFHE
FEEERERITRABRERBAOFTH -

EXPARATEROFN RS REE
KRR RAEEEHEBRBE O -

BEREL  MREBLRBELER
2017 F9 R 26 AR ERBILIEHITE
SN

XM ERITEENHM R E
EEADBEEOHH -

ARBEEFOHFINMFR G DR
1,000,000 7T °

EFIR (FE) ERERDH
—T—tFFER

97



98

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)

ARE B S R MY R )

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

9. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Emoluments of senior management

Of the six (2016: five) senior management of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2017, two
(2016: two) of them are directors of the Company and
their remuneration has been disclosed in note 9(a). The
total emoluments of the remaining four (2016: three)
senior management are as follows:

(b) ?&Eﬁ/\,\@ﬂi
RAREHE2017F12A3MBLEFE
HNE(2016F : AR ) SR EREA
B HAMA(2016F : WA) A
AREIEE  MESHHEEHER
FHEE9() ° 82 FIUAE (20165 + =)
WEREBABHNMNSEENT

2017 2016
2017 20164
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

Salaries and other allowances #ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁa 543 496

Retirement benefit scheme RIARE R ET IR
contributions 96 12
639 508

The emoluments of each of the senior management were
less than HK$1,000,000 for both years.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continied)

A

B SRR M5 @)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

9.

10.

(C)

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 9. EE - BETHAEREES
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued) <z
Five highest paid individuals € AEE=FMAL
The five highest paid individuals, which are also senior HE2017F12831BLEFE &%
management of the Company, of the Group include two BREZEeHMAL(FEERAEEAA
(2016: two) directors of the Company and three (2016: ARREEE)REARAMEBES
three) senior management of the Group for the year (20165 : MB) RAEE ="K
ended 31 December 2017. The emoluments of the EIEE(2016F + =F) ° H Z=2017
remaining three (2016: three) individuals for the year FI2ANBIEFE HH=ZF AL
ended 31 December 2017 are as follows: (20165 : =8) WEH T
2017 2016
2017 5 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BTT AREFIT
Salaries and other allowances e N H A yEAL 522 496
Retirement benefit scheme RN ET B R
contributions 96 12
618 508
The emoluments of each of the three employees above NE=2EESANEFHAMERS
were less than HK$1,000,000 for both years. AH41,000,000/8 7T °
During the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, no B E£2017F k2016512 A31A IEFEE -
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors of AEEMERARTENESIAER &
the Company or the chief executive of the Group or the five SITRABRXAEE TR HMA L HER
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon B4 - LAIR 3| 1R AN A AN &£ B S E A AR
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None SERNEESIERBEBME - &1E 2017
of the directors of the Company or the chief executive of the FR2016F12A3NBLEFE AQRE
Group waived any emoluments during the years ended 31 ERAEERE T B HUE T B
December 2017 and 2016. il
DIVIDENDS 10. RE

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during
both years, nor has any dividend been proposed since 31
December 2017 up to the date of approval of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017.

2R )R R E 4R T2 A AR A 3k B IR A ] A%
8 B2017F12831B £ EH E & =2017
FNRANBULFESAVBRREMEE

BMEZ R EARE -

IR (FE) ZERERAE]
—T—tFFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

1. 8RER

The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to KRAREBEAFAEMSRERNEFMOE
the owners of the Company for the year is based on the BETYER AT 8UE -

following data:

2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETIT

Earnings 2%
Profit for the year attributable to H GG R AR ZFFT A A
the owners of the Company for the A AEIEERET
purpose of basic earnings per share 6,938 5,697
2017 2016
2017 5 20164
Number of shares K& A
Number of shares for the purpose of STEEREARLES
basic and diluted (2016: basic) (20165 « E7K) BFIFTAKS
earnings per share (in thousands) B (k) 641,096 600,000
The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended FEHE201T7F12ANBILEEFENER
31 December 2017 did not assume the exercise of the over- BEE B P R R R R R A R TT A
allotment options since the exercise price of those options was FHzEERENTEES N AR KRG R
higher than the average market price of the Company’s shares 2017 FH)FITHE ©
for 2017.
No diluted earnings per share was presented for the year R 2016 7 OB R B BT E WA - R
ended 31 December 2016 as there was no potential ordinary HZE2016F 12831 B IEFE W E 25

share outstanding for 2016.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12. ¥  BMERRE

Furniture

Plant and and office Leasehold Motor

machinery  equipment  equipment improvement vehicles Total

BEREH AR & R Mol HEVERE RE st

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT AEETT ARETTL AEETT ARETT ARETT
cost [7%.3
At 1 January 2016 R2016E1818 14,293 154 773 4,163 4,069 23452
Additions NE 204 - 37 19 - 260
Disposals k= - 9 (50) - - (59
At 31 December 2016 R2016F 128318 14,497 145 760 4182 4,069 23,653
Additions NE 151 12 353 346 563 1,425
Disposals e (94) - 47) - (107) (248)
At 31 December 2017 R2017F12A318 14,554 157 1,066 4,528 4,525 24,830
DEPRECIATION i
At 1 January 2016 R2016E1 818 6,010 9 614 1817 1,360 9,896
Provided for the year FREHE 2,754 21 livi 714 657 4193
Disposals e - 9 (47) - - (56)
At 31 December 2016 RA016E12A318 8,764 107 614 2,531 2017 14,033
Provided for the year FMEHE 2,362 20 57 778 683 3,900
Disposals e (88) - (42) - (57) (187)
At 31 December 2017 RA017E12R318 11,038 127 629 3,309 2,643 17,746
CARRYING VALUES EEE
At 31 December 2017 R017F12A318 3516 30 437 1219 1,882 7,084
At 31 December 2016 R2016F12 8318 5733 38 146 1,651 2,052 9,620

AR (FE) ZERERAF
—T—tFFER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

12.

13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis as follows:

Plant and machinery
Furniture and equipment
Office equipment
Leasehold improvement

20% per annum

20% per annum

20% per annum

Over the period of the relevant
lease, or over 5 years,
whichever is shorter

Motor vehicles 20% per annum

RENTAL DEPOSITS

The balances represent rental deposits placed by the Group in
connection with its rented premises. The directors of the
Company consider that, at the inception of the relevant leases,
the Group is reasonably certain that it will exercise the options
under the relevant terms of the leases to continue to lease the
respective premises upon expiry of the lease terms. Therefore,
the balances are classified as non-current.

Included in the rental deposits of the Group is an amount of
RMB135,000 (2016: RMB135,000) as at 31 December 2017 paid
to Mr. Li JX, Mr. Li Jianming and their three brothers as rental
deposits for the office premises owned by them which is used
by the Group.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017

12.

13.

W% - BERSKRE @

P BERREED AERENE
T :

BB T A, FE20%

R R FE20%

N T 20%

HEwMERE ARBLNFEY  BA
BE(AREE R%E)

AE FF20%

Here

BHREAEEREEAENENNESIR
& ARBEERR REBBEOTLZ
- AREAEEEESREHEONEE
BRITRE R - HEREOBRERER
HERRME - At ZBEBRBE/IER
) o

2017 F12 A318 » A& Em Bk
£ RERAERESUABIANEE
& A AREE1350007T (2016 4F « ARME
135,0007T) - EAARSEGAKREMES
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

14.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

14. EZREMEWFIE

2017 2016

2017 20164

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBT T

Trade receivables B 5 EWGRIE 64,975 42,398
Prepayments, deposits and TEFIE ~ e R HAth FEUGRIE

other receivables 3,322 1,717

Deferred listing expenses IERE ETRS - 883

68,297 44,998

No allowance for doubtful debt was provided during the year
ended 31 December 2017 (2016: nil) and no balance of
provision for bad and doubtful debt had been recognised as at
31 December 2017 (2016: nil).

For long-term customers with good credit quality and payment
history, the Group allows credit periods of no longer than 90
days. For other customers, the Group demands for full
settlement upon issuance of invoice after the provision of
services.

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period.

HE20177F12A31BILFE - BIETR
RIEEHQ016F : T) - R2017F12 A
JNAMERRARZEREHSBTE(016F -

2)-

HREABRUFFEEEZEINREENED
P AKRERTTHEBEOANEER-
HREMEF » AEBEERNEHRBER
P B RGBSR -

TIRE 5 EES
HIZ D Z BRER D AT

RERNRERRIZERA

2017 2016

2017 5 2016 F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARBTFT

Within 30 days 30HA 32,016 26,361
31-60days 31£60H 15,178 9,270
61-90 days 61E90H 16,727 6,060
Over 90 days 90 LA E 1,054 707
64,975 42,398

IR (FE) ZERERAE]
—T—tFFER
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continved) ~ 14. B 5 & H At EUFKIE (4)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Credit limits attributed to customers and credit term
granted to customers are reviewed regularly. The trade
receivables that are neither past due nor impaired have no
history of default on payments.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors
with aggregate carrying amounts of RMB16,080,000 (2016:
RMB4,963,000) as at 31 December 2017 which were past due
at the end of the reporting period for which the Group has not
provided for impairment loss as the Group considered such
balances could be recovered based on historical experience.
The Group does not hold any collaterals over these balances.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables which
are past due but not impaired at the end of the reporting
period:

RERTAFELR  AEBESFEERE
EFPMEEERREETFPHNERE I
EHRIEPARENEERRETERP
MEEH - A L EEMTERENE
2 ENRIF B E 9 I A6 RIE ARS8 o

NEBE 5 EWRIBLAGRT BIEN 2017 F
12A31BEEREEEAR AR 16,080,000 7T
(20164 + AR #4,963,0007T ) 2 FE Ut B8R
FoRERFAREHARESE  mAE
EwEmp A EREEDEG  REALE
ERAEERBALR ZS&HTRE -
REEWERZELERITHEEAERRD -

UTARBREHRAMEERENE -
YRR Y AR e DA -

2017 2016
2017 § 20164
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TRT AREET T

Overdue by: EA
Within 30 days 30BA 13,125 3,388
31to 60 days 31E60H 2,043 1,180
6110 90 days 61%E90 R 902 348
Over 90 days 90H M E 10 47
16,080 4,963
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

14.

15.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Trade receivables that are denominated in foreign currency,
currency other than the functional currency of relevant group
entity:

14. ESREMEBEWRRIE %)
BREEEBLINE AL S 5

MITEMNE S EKEE -
2017 2016
2017 5% 2016 4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

United States Dollars (“USD") E([ZEx])

9,245 1,428

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO RELATED
PARTIES

(@ Amount due from a related party

15. FEUR FEAS BRI J5 ROR

(a) FEMW — R FIR

Maximum balance
outstanding during the year

FERRER MRS
2017 2016 2017 2016
2017 % 2016 4F 2017 5 2016 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETTT AR®TT AREFTT
Mr. Li JX BRI A 1,726 - 1,726 31

The amount is non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand. As at 31 December 2017,
the amount of RMB653,000 is denominated in Hong Kong
dollars ("HKD") and the remaining balance is
denominated in RMB.

JEMGRIBLASEB SIS - EIEH - &
B RIZEESREE - FR2017F 12 A 31
B ARM653,000TH&EEABETT
(IBTDEHE - S THRERUARE
iTE -

AR (FE) ZERERAF
—T—tFFER
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

15. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO RELATED
PARTIES (continued)

(b) Amounts due to related parties

15.

e, FE A3 BA B 5 RO ()

(b) FEfIREARE )T BOR

2017 2016
2017 20164
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

Guangzhou Jiansheng B2 - 10,110
Joyful Huge exa - 3,000
Max Fame o] - 6,890
Mr. Li JX BEFTEE 646 -

646 20,000

All balances are non-trade in nature, unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

16. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances carry interest at variable rates which range from
0.3% t0 0.35% per annum as at 31 December 2017 (2016: 0.3%
t0 0.35% per annum).

The amounts of the Group’s bank balances and cash
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies
of the relevant group entities are set out below:

16.

FERSRERIESME BEF 28
BRERER -

RITERRAE

R2017F 12 A318 « RITEBRIEN T0.3%
% 0.35% B0 ¥ B I K5 R (2016 5F + S 7]
#0.3% 2 0.35%) °

AEBARBEEEERINGEESEUINNE
BAHENRITESRMIRSOSBEHIINT

2017 2016
2017 5% 2016 4F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETT

HKD BT
usb ET

22,633 -
4,892 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 17. ES R EMEMREBEBURES
ACCRUED EXPENSES Bz
2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETTT

Trade payables BB ENFA 14,807 8,776
Accrued employee benefits FERTE B & T 5,721 5,887
Other payables and accrued expenses E < 2R IE K fE AR S 3,445 2,956
Accrued listing expenses FEET RS - 3,087
23,973 20,706
The credit period of trade payables is ranging from 30 to 90 EZEMNFIENEERNT0ENA -
days.
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on THAESENFERRERRIEZEEH
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period. HIZ27] 2 BREE DT ©
2017 2016
2017 § 2016 4
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETT

Within 30 days 30HA 9,046 6,471
31 to 60 days 31E60H 4,921 2,137
6110 90 days 61E90H 822 37
Over 90 days 90H M E 18 131

14,807 8,776

AR (RE) BRERAT | 107
Tt



108

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)

/\\/T\

&R M EE @

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

17.

18.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
ACCRUED EXPENSES (continued)

Trade payables that are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of relevant group entity:

17. EZ RHEMENREURES
FalﬁSIZL%"/
EASEERUNEEE I EEE
BB ZIERFIE

2017 2016
2017 & 2016 4F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR®TT ARETT

usD ES 4,078 590
BANK BORROWINGS 18. SRITER

2017 2016

2017 5% 2016 4F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETT

Secured and variable-rate bank B EZBIRITER
borrowings, denominated in RMB and IAREERAR—FR
repayable within one year and shown BERINRBEETH

under current liabilities BREE

= 16,000

The variable-rate bank borrowings as at 31 December 2016
carried interest at a premium over prevailing lending rate
quoted by the People’s Bank of China.

As at 31 December 2016, the bank borrowings were secured
by (i) pledge of properties and land use rights held by certain
directors of the Company and/or their family members; and (ii)
the personal guarantee of Mr. Li JX and his spouse. The bank
borrowings had been repaid during the year and the securities
were released before the listing of the shares of the Company
on the Stock Exchange.

The effective interest rate (which is also equal to contracted
interest rate) on the Group’s borrowings as at 31 December
2016 was 5.44% per annum.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017

R2016F 12 A31 B M F BIRITERIES
R B ARBITATRIBITE FF R F| &
B o

M2016F12 A318 » SRITEFA AR R
ETEER A EREREMBZVER
T FAERER k() REFRERE
B4R ) B A FE AR VEHR IR  SRITIERE R A
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Fft T RTARRR o
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

19. SHARE CAPITAL

The share capital as at 1 January 2016 represented the
registered capital of Guangzhou World-Link attributable to the

19. B
R 201651 A1 8 HI% AN 35 = 48 52 AX AT 32

RREEEERMNPBIRTEMEAR -

Li Family prior to the completion of the Reorganisation.

As set out in note 1, the Reorganisation has been completed
during the year ended 31 December 2016 and the balances of
share capital as at 31 December 2016 and 2017 represent the
share capital of the Company. Details of movements of share
capital of the Company are as follows:

WM EE 1 PrE - EHEREE 2016512 A
MBI FETHK - R20164F 2017 F 12
A3 AR RABREEIEARAIRA o XA F
MRAFB BT -

Number of Share
shares capital
B iR & B i1 2. 3
HK$
BT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FREE0.01 B TR LB
Authorised EE
At 22 November 2016 (date of 201611 B 22 B (7ML
incorporation), and 31 December 2016 BHER) - RHR2016F12 A31H 380,000,000 3,800,000
Increase on 26 September 2017 (Note i) FA2016 49 B 26 B30 (Hfsi) 9,620,000,000 96,200,000
At 31 December 2017 R2017%12 A31H 10,000,000,000 100,000,000
Issued and fully paid EBRTRAE
Issued on 22 November 2016 201611 A 22 B (7Ffakaz
(date of incorporation), and HE) » kR 20164F
as at 31 December 2016 12H31H 10,000 100
Issue of new shares (Note i) BITERR D (Bt ii) 599,990,000 5,999,900
Issue of new shares upon listing (Note /i) W& 3173 (A7 iii) 200,000,000 2,000,000
At 31 December 2017 R2017%F12A31H 800,000,000 8,000,000

IR (FE) ZERERAE]
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

(i) On 26 September 2017, the Company passed a written resolution
pursuant to which the authorised share capital of the Company was
increased by HK$96,200,000 by the creation of 9,620,000,000 shares of
par value HK$0.01 each.

(i) 0On 26 September 2017, the Company has approved the issuance of
599,990,000 shares standing to the credit of the share premium of the
Company conditional on the share premium account of the Company
being credited as a result of the share offer of the shares of the Company
(“Capitalisation Issue”). The Capitalisation Issue was completed on 18
October 2017.

(ifi) 0On 18 October 2017, the shares of the Company were listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange. 200,000,000 ordinary shares by way of share offer
at an offer price of HK$0.3 each have been issued to investors with gross
proceeds of HK$60,000,000.

The new shares issued rank pari passu in all aspects with the
existing shares.

Prior to the Listing, the Company conditionally adopted a share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) on 26 September
2017 which became effective and unconditional upon the
Listing. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable
the Group to grant options to the eligible persons as rewards
or incentives for their contribution to the Group. The Group
may, at its absolute discretion, offer an option to the eligible
persons to subscribe for the shares of the Company at an
exercise price and subject to the other terms of the Share
Option Scheme. The total number of shares of the Company
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company shall not in aggregate exceed 80,000,000 shares of
the Company, being 10% of the total number of shares in issue
at the time dealings in the shares first commence on the Stock
Exchange and there was no change in the total number of
shares of the Company available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme and the percentage of the issued share capital
that it represented as at the date of this report.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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19. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 19. BRA& (&)
2017 2016
2017 5% 2016 F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFIT
Shown in the consolidated statement REGBFEIRARES

of financial position 6,761 -

Notes: Bt

(i) R2017F9R26H  AARAB-HEERE
R Bl FRAINEERETEBER
9,620,000,000 1% & % 1 {E0.01 7% 7T &9 B {3 45 40
96,200,000 7 7T ©

(i) R20174F9 A26 B » AR ERER AR E KD
BREREARDRROORNBEEHSERE - 5t
AN A i (8 B O E PR B8 3% 17 599,990,000 A £
([EA(EETT]) - EALFEITHR 2017410718
HemK °

(iif) #2017 10818 B + AR R E#E 22 BT GEM
7 © 200,000,000 % AR E E B BHET
RIZBEBEROIBLETTRELE  AER
T8 4858 % 60,000,000 7 7T, ©

BBTHRGERE S ERRERAE
AR -

W ETWAT  AAR2017F9 A 26 B E %
HERNERERT ([ EREE]) - R
ETBAERKEGRE - BRETENED
RENEBMAAEBALERLERE L
TERHERNERLG TR SZE) SONE -
REET2RENBRTEERBEREE
B E RS B AR A TR - X
REARRBRY - BITERBERETE
R AR AR H AR &4 /O BT B AR
i A gE B ITRI AR R AR B B e NS
i 80,000,000 f& #) 28 A R AR 17+ BN & IR A
XA B E R B BT 4282 10%
i AR 45 B AR A AT B A9 T R BT AR R AR
BHRENARE B ETERN B ETRA
WE D LIS -
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

19.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to or to be granted
to each participant under the Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue.
The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years. Under the Share Option Scheme, each option has a
10-year exercise period unless otherwise determined by the
board of directors of the Company.

The exercise price for the shares of the Company subject to
Share Option Scheme will be a price determined by the Board
and notified to each participant and shall be the highest of (i)
the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of
the share options, which must be a trading day of the Stock
Exchange; (ii) the average closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five trading days of the Stock Exchange
immediately preceding the date of grant of the share options;
and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company.

No share option has been granted, exercised, expired,
cancelled or lapsed pursuant to the Share Option Scheme
since its adoption by the Company and up to 31 December
2017.

19. BA&#)

FRS2EATREMI12{E A BHRAITER
BB AR A R AN A A sk HAE ] B B A R A
A E A BRSO R 2 BikE (B
718 - BEREE R ARITE A AR ) e 2
KigEE 2 RARRGBHETEEDE R
TR 2 1% ° E%Hﬂiéﬁiu%?\mﬁﬁﬁ?ﬂf@
FERX o !T\ﬁﬁﬁxﬁﬁﬁ'}fﬂiﬁﬂﬁ‘ki
EARRT BRBERE °

BRSBTS RO MITEESSHE
EEETWNGSLEE - BER ZEET
FIRERNRRE  IRNREBRESR

*Pﬁﬁi&fﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂﬁ’]ﬂxh Y (%A Z\

EABMINRZSH)  (fREERLER
T“H“Elﬁlﬁ'ﬂlsé%ﬂ tX T HIRERAT
FIE AR TR ¢ R (i) AR R A B (5

EfE

B AR BIRMBRE BIEREE2017F
12 A31HIE - BUEREEBOES S WK
R~ 1TME - BIH  REBHERRAK

EFHIR (FE) ZEREIR
= +



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

20. OPERATING LEASES COMMITMENTS 0. KREFHERIE
Details of operating leases payments during the year in respect FAEBAEMEUREE REHAEE
of rented premises and plant and machinery are as follows: MERFET
2017 2016
2017 & 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETTT

Rented premises HEwE 15,930 14,856
Plant and machinery R B K A, 3,567 3,668
19,497 18,524
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had REREHR  NEFIRIEEBEHEEYEL
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non- MR R E A B S AR E R Rk
cancellable operating leases in respect of rented premises and SEAENTAZENRNEAWT

plant and machinery which fall due as follows:

2017 2016
2017 2016 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTT AR¥KTT

Rented premises HEME

Within one year —FR 19,443 14,115
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_FEFNF (BEEEWRSF) 47,986 22,213
67,429 36,328

Plant and machinery TR Be teA,
Within one year —FR 1,378 2,235
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_FEFAF (BEEEWNSF) 1,167 593
2,545 2,828
69,974 39,156
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

20. OPERATING LEASES COMMITMENTS
(Continued)

Leases are negotiated for the period of one to ten years, of
which the Group shall be entitled to terminate one of the
tenancy agreements which has a remaining lease term of nine
years by giving two months’ notice to the landlord. The Group
has option to renew the leases for all rented premises.

20. KEHERIE2)

MOKEBRRRP—E21+F AEEF%
BBRAETHELMEARNK LRSI
MHENABNFORERR - AREEE
BEMBHEEMENEL -

21. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 21. EXRELE
2017 2016
2017 £ 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFTT
Capital expenditure contracted for but BB EW%  BEREHD
not provided in the consolidated I RMBERTELRE M BIREA
financial statements in respect of Bz BAX I
acquisition of property, plant and
equipment 686 -

22. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The obligation of the Group with respect to the state-managed
retirement benefit schemes is to make the specified
contributions. During both current and prior years, the total
amounts contributed by the Group to the schemes and
charged to the profit or loss represent contributions paid/
payable to the schemes by the Group at rates specified in the
rules of the schemes. The retirement benefit scheme
contributions made by the Group amounted to RMB10,484,000
(2016: RMB6,889,000) for the year ended 31 December 2017.

23. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(@) Related party balances

Details of the outstanding balance with related parties of
the Group are set out in the consolidated statement of
financial position and in notes 13 and 15.

22. EARBERGHE
AEBEREREENRKENAENE
ERIELFEMRN - RAFERBAEFE -
REFE MG EMFEE Rt ABRHRERE
EASEBIRA BB AIFTARE ML R B M
MEHEIEL A HEFR o REEEZE 2017 F 12
A 318 LFEEL B RIREREEER S
A K #10,484,0007T (20165 : A K ¥
6,889,0007T) °

23. BB A HE
(a) FEAESE TS 48R
BN S [ R O 0 1 R B A IS
BAGABTBRRE R 1315 -

IR (FE) ZERERAE]
—T—tFFER
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

23. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

23. BB A E®)

(b) Related party transactions (b) BEEESR5
2017 2016
20174 20165
RMB'000 RMB’000
N S ARBFT
Rental expense for office premises PRt E - BERLLE
paid to Mr. Li JX, Mr. Li Jianming, Li Jianrong 44 ~ Li Jianhua %t 4
Mr. Li Jianrong, Mr. Li Jianhua and % Li Jianwen Je £ 3R

Mr. Li Jianwen ERSHX 609 609

Mr. Li Jianrong, Mr. Li Jianhua and Mr. Li Jianwen are
brothers of Mr. Li JX and Mr. Li Jianming. The rental
expenses are paid for the office premises used by the
Group in Guangzhou, the PRC. As at 31 December 2017,
the operating lease commitments for the relevant office
premises have been included in note 20 and amounted
to RMB1,180,000 (2016: RMB367,000). The rental deposits
paid to them as at the end of the reporting period is set
out in note 13.

Compensation of key management
personnel of the Company

Li Jianrong %¢ 4 ~ Li Jianhua %t & K Li
Jianwen 5 A A 22 & 5 9t A B2 22 f AP
SEMRE - MM BAEEATA
AP BEEMNOPAYERSAS -
MR2017512 8318 - BEENRRIME
B A8 & T B A R AR 1,180,000
TT (20164 « ARME367,0007T) B &
AMIFE20 RBEBMHARAI N FHES
WIS RS ENMIE 13 -

ARRREBEIEABFHH

2017 2016

2017 & 2016 4F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TT ARETTT

Fees we 67 -

Salaries and other allowances e R HEAER, 2,087 1,884
Retirement benefit scheme and RIRERET I

contributions 180 20

Total st 2,334 1,904

The remuneration of the directors of the Company and
other key management personnel of the Company are
determined having regard to the performance of the
individuals.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017

RRABREERARAFHEMBTIEEREA
BNHHRBEEARRETE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continded

A

B SRR M5 @)

For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

23.

24.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (continued)

(d) Security and guarantees provided by
related parties

The Group's bank borrowings as at 31 December 2016
were secured by securities and/or guarantees provided
by related parties as set out in note 18, which have been
fully released during the year upon the settlements of the
relevant borrowings by the Group.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the group
companies will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The overall strategy for the
current year remains unchanged compared with previous
years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank borrowings, net of cash and cash equivalents,
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital, various reserves and retained profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost
and the risks associates with each class of the capital. Based
on the recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as
the issue of new debt and the redemption of existing debt.

24.

B 75 R ()
(O BB IR GO R AR B

RNEE K 2016F 12 A31 BRRITE

mwﬁm%ﬁ@%ﬁh#mmﬁ
&/iﬁ BRI RIRE
?$¢F$$l%ﬁﬁ%%%é%ﬁ
BRER ©

EXEREE

AEEEREEA  FBECESRES
R T E - REEET S AR REL
g FABRRERERENER - SBEF
B8 AFEOEBRBRERHTE -

AEBENEARBRHESFE(BRERITE
o HRRENREFEY) RARRHES
ANEGER (BREETRAE - SERFEHR
RE M) ARK

ARBEEE R EARE - FRZR
AME—#n  EEEEEEEARNKAR
HERR EREENHEBER  ~A&H
BB - B BT RO ER
R BETHEFIBELRBEHN AF
BHBRERRE -

EFHIR (FE) ZEREIR
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@)

25. TMIT AR

Categories of financial instruments (@ =rtTEER
2017 2016
2017 § 2016 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TT AREFT
Financial assets TREE
Loans and receivables (including BHRENZIE(BERS R
cash and cash equivalents) ReEEY) 112,826 69,830
Financial liabilities TRIAE
Amortised cost b S DN 16,753 46,395
Financial risk management objectives and b EREREEBZEREE
policies
The Group’s major financial instruments include trade AEENTESRMTIAREE S RA

and other receivables, bank balances and cash, trade
and other payables, amounts due from/to related parties
and bank borrowings.

Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
() Currency risk

A subsidiary of the Group has foreign currency
sales and purchases, which expose the Group to
foreign currency risk.

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, the
management closely monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 25. E@MI A %)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and b zmEBREEBEZEK
policies (continuea) BUR (48)
Market risk (Continued) miZEE (&)
(i) Currency risk (Continued) ()  EEmEEGE)
The Group's currency risk is mainly attributable to AEEMEBREREEEFEAR
the exposure outstanding on bank balances, trade REBIRITHE - BHEBK
receivables, trade and other payables and amount B B MHMENKIBRE
due from/to a related party denominated in HKD W, — & BB 5 A T R 3
and USD. The carrying amounts at the end of each TLETEMRKIE - REMEHR
reporting period are as follows: FRREEWT -
Assets Liabilities
HE =X
2017 2016 2017 2016
2017 % 2016 4F 2017 & 20164
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRE ARBTT AR®TR ARETRT

HKD BT 23,286 - 646 -
usb e 14,137 1,428 4,078 590

@FWH (FE) BRERAT | 117
Tt



118

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 25. €T A

(b) Financial risk management objectives and b zEAkEEEERK
policies (continued) R (&)
Market risk (Continued) B R (F)
(i) Currency risk (Continued) () EEmE(E)
Sensitivity analysis BRRE DT
The following table details the Group's sensitivity to TRFMARE X GRIIINEF

a 5% increase and decrease in RMB against the
relevant foreign currencies. 5% represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A
negative number below indicates a decrease in
post-tax profit for the reporting period where RMB
strengthen 5% against the relevant foreign
currency. For a 5% weakening of RMB against the
relevant foreign currency, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the post-tax profit.

18 % B2 (8.5% B 7< & (8] 1) B =%
Z - S%IEEIREHIMNEREXS
BRI B AT - RRE S
EBRREEINEFEER
T8 B 3 7 RS B R 3L 5% B S
KEREEHHAEMRE - LT A
BRRHARB L ABINET
1B5% @ IS MR BRI R R
ML - ARKE LB REINE
B2fE5% - HEHBRREENE
FRHERNTE -

Post-tax profit

53580 2 ]
2017 2016
2017 5 20164
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT AREFTT
HKD BT (849) -
usD ETT (377) 371

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2017
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances and bank
borrowings (see notes 16 and 18) due to the
fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rates.

In order to mitigate the interest rate risk, the Group
adopts a policy of maintaining an appropriate mix
of fixed and floating rate borrowings which is
achieved primarily through the contractual terms of
borrowings. The position is regularly monitored and
evaluated by reference of anticipated changes in
market interest rates. The Group did not use any
interest rate swap to hedge its interest rate risk
during both years.

Sensitivity analysis

As the cash flow interest rate risk on bank balances
is insignificant as the balances are short-term, no
interest risk sensitivity analysis is presented for
both years.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for
variable-rate bank borrowings. The analysis is
prepared assuming that the liabilities outstanding
at the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. 50 basis points increase or
decrease represent the management’s assessment
of the reasonable possible change in interest rates
of bank borrowings.

If the interest rates had been 50 basis points
higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the Group's post-tax profit for the year
ended 31 December 2016 would have decreased/
increased by RMB60,000. The Group is not exposed
to any material interest rate risk as at 31 December
2017.

25. E@MI A %)
& %ﬁ ﬂ ﬁﬁ*ﬁ

TEEHBZER

R ()
TS EE (E)
(i FEmE

BRIBITMSAEES A&
B#EZ 7 BIRITE B RIRTT
BER(2HEWE16%18) B HE
E’ﬁﬁ%mbiﬁwﬁ ©

REBRNXRER  NEBRA
MBREEIREBEFINALH
RSB E L DI E B RF
BfER - X2EMHHEME
AHRIEE BB R KA A B
S o AN B R AR TR R AR AE
(EEIRSEEEE e E Sl

BREE D

MR EIRITES B R R RT
EHHBESRENERAR LT
BEAX FIERRBREEESTR
MEEMET o

MTﬁ@E“WEEﬁF“
RITERO N KRR EE
ﬁ%ﬁ“#ﬁiﬂiﬁgﬁﬁ
BEOEERBEFERESR -
%MYHQ%(%%F”EF
HIRITIE RN R A e & 1L &
ByHORFE

W& IR, FEK 50 M &2 im
e Hib B HEHITE - A&
B & =2016512A318 IF 5
[EHIBR B 1855 FIH R A 38 hn
AR 60,0007 © 7220174 12
A318 » RNEE I &G EM
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)
Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will
cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position of the Group.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
receivables. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team
responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual trade debt at the end of the reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are banks with good reputations.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has concentration of
credit risk in trade receivables as 39% (2016: 44%) of the
total trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer. The Group's concentration of credit risk on the
top five largest customers accounted for 92% (2016: 88%)
of the total trade receivables as at 31 December 2017.
The management of the Group considers the credit risk
of amounts due from these customers is insignificant
after considering historical and subsequent settlement
records, credit quality and aging analysis of the
counterparties.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains levels of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the
Group's operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest dates on which the Group can be required to
pay. The maturity dates for bank borrowings are based
on the agreed repayment dates.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest rates are floating rates, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the
end of the reporting period.

Liquidity tables
As at 31 December 2017

25. €@ TR ®)
b smEAREERZK
BUER (&)
FBESAR

EEERBDESRBRE - $§%@E§
ZREFRE MRS FEYNER

RARAENAREERZE Iz)ﬁii‘“fﬁﬁ
MR EFEHIKT o

TREHNREBEFETESRAGENT
HAEDHR - RBCRASEATHN
FHHEFAHNSREBERTRAS
MEBIE - RITEKWEBEA THER
WEE A o

RIBBER/MNERACHESRE © WH
BRAZE AR SEARTREH
REOFIEEAESL -

HEBEEXE
M2017512A31R

Weighted Repayahle carrying
average  on demand 4 months Total amount at
effective  or less than 1-3 to undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 1 month months 1year cash flows 2017
2017 %
miEEsy REREE FARE 12A318
ERfE  HORMER 1£3(8R ABREE RERH HREE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR%TR AR®TR AR%TR AR®TR AR®TR
Non-derivative FTERMAR
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables & 5 RE B (308 - 10,346 5,743 18 16,107 16,107
Amountduetoarelated  [ER —ZEER T EUE
party - 646 - - 646 646
10,992 5,743 18 16,753 16,753

IR (FE) ZERERAE]
—T—tFFER
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(0)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity tables (Continued)
As at 31 December 2016

(0)

25. EEQI,E\-\ME/

R REEERER
R ()

FBESER ()

RBE S EE ()
M2016%F12A31H

Weighted Repayable Carrying
average on demand 4 months Tota amount at
effective or less than 1-3 to undiscounted 31 December

interest rate 1month months 1year cash flows 2016
R 201645
g RENER RTERE 12A318
ERME  HOR1EA 123@A  4ERAEE ) B MERAME
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Non-derivative FiEEMAR
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables & 5 R E{E [ F0E - 3925 6,470 - 10,39 10,39
Amountsdue torelated  FE(S AR 3B
parties - 20,000 - - 20,000 20,000
Bank borrowings RITER 5.44 50 143 16,501 16,694 16,000
23,975 6,613 16,501 47,089 46,395
The amounts included above for variable interest rate iy ] 84 81 2R B 7 SR 45 BACR S e MO ) 2R
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are HEHETR - A LA R AaE
subject to change if variable interest rates differ to those MAENETESEBSHREE -
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.
Fair value ) »~¥E

The management considers that the carrying amounts of
the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated statement
of financial position at the end of the reporting period
approximate their fair values. Such fair values have been
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 & Z=2017F12A318 ILFE

26. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 26.

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group'’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those
for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash flows from financing activities.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities for

METHEENEEYHER

TRIBARASEERETHELNA
BEDFE BERERSKERECEY -8
MELPEENEEBERABNAEE
MR RERADERBRETHEL
BB

HE=2016F M2017F12A31B IEFEH

the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2017: REERHELENAGEEE
Total
Obligation Amounts liabilities
under a due to from
finance related Bank financing
lease parties borrowings activities
&£ RETHEE
MEHRRE RBARE MITHE™® HRAR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT
At 1 January 2016 R2016F1818 913 154 22,500 23,567
Financing cash flows (Note i) RMERERE (M5ti) (930) (154) (7,202) (8,286)
Non-cash changes B EE
Finance cost B F AR AN 17 - 702 719
Avrising from reorganisation REdEE - 20,000 - 20,000
At 31 December 2016 R2016E12A31H - 20,000 16,000 36,000
Financing cash flows (Note /) RERSRE (W) - 741 (17,223) (16,482)
Non-cash changes FESE
Finance cost B TERKAR - - 1,223 1,223
Capitalisation of amounts due to 1 FE (< R Bgt 77 5008
related parties (Note ii) BRERMTN) - (20,095) - (20,095)
At 31 December 2017 R2017E12A318 - 646 - 646
Notes: Hiat -

(i) The cash flows for amounts due to related parties and bank borrowings
above include the net amount of advances from and repayments to the
relevant parties in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

(if) During the year, the amounts of RMB3,000,000, RMB6,890,000 and
RMB10,205,000 due to Joyful Huge, Max Fame and Mr. Li JX, respectively,
have been capitalised as contributions from shareholders.

0] LR ENEETRAZRERE RIRITEREIE
FERSREBRNREEMETNBRRALE
BOFHE -

(ii) RAEE » DRIEMNEERE  HRRREELEN
© 5 AR 30000007 « AR 6,890,000 7T K
AR#10,205,000 TE BRI BRI E -

IR (FE) ZERERAE]
—T—tFFER
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

. AR A BARR R

2017 2016
2017 2016 4F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREFTT
NON-CURRENT ASSET FERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—ENBARNKRE 53,509 1
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Other receivables H ity flE W FROR = 383
Bank balances and cash IRITEHR MBS 251 -
251 883
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEAE
Other payables and accrued expenses o T FRIE A N B AT R S 25 3,176
Amount due to a related party e — R B T 208 134 -
Amount due to a subsidiary FE A~ — IR B A B3R IE 4,026 545
4,185 3,721
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES mEAERE (3,934) (2,838)
NET ASSETS (LIABILITIES) BE(ARE)BE 49,575 (2,837)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEERFER
Share capital %N 6,761 -
Reserves (Note) R (Ff5E) 42,814 (2,837)
TOTAL EQUITY (DEFICIT) 8 (B en 49,575 (2,837)

Note: The following are the movements of the Company’s reserves from 22

November 2016 (date of incorporation) to 31 December 2017.

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017
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27. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

B SR M EE @

THE COMPANY (Continued)

27. AT WEI MR T ()

Share Other Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
B ipRE 1t £ RitER #at
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
At 22 November 2016 201611 H22H
(date of incorporation) (FEfAR S B E) - - - -
Loss and total comprehensive HREE LD
expense for the period R 4% - - (2,837) (2,837)
At 31 December 2016 201612 A31H - - (2,837) (2,837)
Loss and total comprehensive FRNEBEEREE
expense for the year X8 - - (12,207) (12,207)
Issue of shares by capitalisation BB R ER
of share premium account BB RBETRMD (5,071) - - (5,071)
Issue of new shares BITHIAR D 49,022 - - 49,022
Transaction costs attributable to BATHR D B
issue of new shares LG (6,188) - - (6,188)
Capitalisation of amounts due to 1 & AT BBt 77 SRIE
related parties BAEER - 20,095 - 20,095
At 31 December 2017 R2017 %12 A31H 37,763 20,095 (15,044) 42,814

EFIR (FE) ERERDH
—T—tFFER

125



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contined)
‘RE ISR MY e )

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #ZE2017F12A318ILFE

28. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 28. B~ RFF1E
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December AR A E R AR 2016 F & 2017F12 A
2016 and 2017 are as follows: 3TEMFBNT -
Issued and
fully paid Equity interest

Place and date of share capital/ attributable to

incorporation/ Place of registered the Company Form of
Name of subsidiary  establishment  operation capital as at 31 December  Principal activities company

B i ERTRERE FOFEGES
il NGIE2 RAY EEME K% EMEE ®12A31A8 TEEH NG

2017 2016

2017 % 2016%

Directly held by the Company:

FRAEERE

Goal Rise Logistics (BV) BV Hong Kong Us$100 100% 100%  Investment holding Limited liability
28 November 2016

R BV KERAES 0 1007t RERR BRAR
2016511 A28H

Indirectly held by the Company:

KRafERE -
Goal Rise Logistics (HK) ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong HKS$1 100% 100% Investment holding Limited liability
2 December 2016
i (F%) BE BB 187 REBR BRAT
2016512 A28
Guangzhou World-Link ~ PRC PRC RMBA45,000,000 100% 100% Provision of transportation,  Limited liability
27 November 1996 (2016: warehousing, in-plant
RMB20,000,000) logistics and customisation
Services
EMFEERT HE HE AR¥ REGER - AR BROR BRAR
199%E 114278 45,000,000 REHRYE
(20165 : AR®
20,000,000 7¢)
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the MEMNBEARNCRBREHASIREEE
end of the reporting period or at any time during both years. B (AR 5 ) B2 A T (A (B TS 35 5 o

126 | Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
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Financial Summary
B E

A summary of the results, and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last three financial years, as extracted from the
published audited consolidated financial statements or the

Prospectus of the Company is set out below:

ERARBERNEAE =AM BRFENREREER
BEMENHREARFC NENLEREAN
BMERIARRABERZHIOT

RESULTS E4
For the year ended 31 December
B#EZ12A31HLLEE
2015 2016 2017
20154 2016 F 2017 £
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARBT T AR®EFT AR®TR
Revenue g 150,277 153,975 192,075
Profit before taxation B RTE T 18,519 19,885 13,280
Income tax expenses FrisFif X (5,224) (5,778) (6,342)
Profit for the year F A A 13,295 14,107 6,938
Attributable to: LATR & 77 e
— owners of the Company — RRREAA 5,886 5,697 6,938
— non-controlling interests — eI 7,409 8,410 -
13,295 14,107 6,938

IR (FE) ZERERAE]
—T—tFFER
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Financial Summary continues)

BT

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS

BE  RERFERES

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2015 2016 2017
20154 20164 2017
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBETT ARETT AR®TT

Total assets wEE 65,978 84,499 125,523
Total liabilities FEy=Lr= (44,478) (61,451) (30,918)
Net assets BEFE 21,500 23,048 94,605
Non-controlling interests IR R (6,882) - -
Equity attributable to the owners PN/ ZSUN

of the Company FE(h iR 14,618 23,048 94,605

Goal Rise Logistics (China) Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2017
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